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Our strategy, supported by determined implementation throughout the Group,
has resulted in a year of further progress while laying the foundations for long

term value creation.

Chairman’s statement

I am pleased to report that the benefits of our
international presence have shown their value in a year
when poor demand affected our UK manufacturing
operations. Early action to reduce costs could not fully
cover the reduction in profits caused by lower UK sales.
Past investments enabled us, during the year, to expand
product ranges and production volumes in continental
Furope and North America to achieve improved profits.
Acquisitions have been integrated to provide a stronger
base for our core businesses, while selective divestments

have released funds.

Major features of the year were the acquisition of
Industrial Flexo S.A. and Proflex S.A. in Spain and the
building of two new manufacturing units in Wiltshire,
UK, which will be ready for transfer of production over

the coming months.

RESULTS

In 1999, Group sales on continuing operations including
acquisitions were £266.2 million {1998: £267.1 million)
and Group profit before taxation and exceptional items

was £20.5 million (1998: £23.2 million), a decrease

of 11.6%.

There was an exceptional gain of £1.4 million {1998:
£0.7 million). This exceptional gain arose from insurance
proceeds received for the refurbishment of plant and
machinery that could not be replaced following the fire
at our facility in Albion, in New York State.

Earnings per share of 53.5p on continuing activities
before exceptional items was down against last year
by 10.5%.

Capital expenditure was £35.4 million (1998: £14.0
million} of which £19.8 million (1998: £2.0 millicn)
was associated with the new facilities in Wiltshire.

Before including the costs of acquisitions and capital

expenditure, the Group generated cash of £9.8 million
{1998: £22.2 million). The cash cost of acquisitions
during the year was £21.4 miilion, which includes
taking on borrowings of £3.1 million net of cash on

the Spanish acquisitions.

Net debt at the year-end stood at £46.4 million
compared with the opening net debt of £2.5 million.

DIVIDEND

Shareholders are recommended to approve a final
dividend of 17.2p per share, which will be paid on 28
January 2000 to ordinary shareholders on the register
on 6 January 2000. When added to the interim dividend
of 7.0p per share the total dividend of 24.2p shows an
increase of 6.1% on the 1998 dividend of 22.8p and is
the fifth consecutive year of real increase in dividend.

DIRECTORS

John Cutts, a Non-Executive director, and Hamish
McPhie, the former Finance Director, left the Board in
January 1999. We wish them both well and thank them
for their contribution to the company’s activities during

their time as directors.

EMPLOYEES

We depend on the enthusiasm, skills and knowledge
of our employees. Their continued support remains
critical to the future success of the Group and we
will continue to place a high priority on providing
opportunities for personal development to ensure full
benefits are achieved from our investment in physical
assets. Our thanks to them for their hard work and

dedication during a challenging year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A full account of the company’s compliance with the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance is set out

on pages 24 to 29.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT

As indicated last year, the Group is working to obtain
1SO 14001, the International Standard for Environmental
Management Systems, at all locations. To date, three of
our UK plants have achieved ISO 14001 accreditation
and a self-assessment process has been developed which
will assist all our operations and monitor their progress
towards the ISO standard.

The Board strongly believes that a health, safety and
environment policy which meets best practice is not only
good business but is a part of our obligation to society
in general and to the communities in which we operate

in particular,

Chairman’s statement 3

OUTLOOK

The coming year will see the completion of two new
factories in the UK. Despite the strength of sterling, the
lower cost base of these facilities together with recent
investments in our overseas operations will contribute
to the strong positioning of Avon as an international

partner for customers in our core markets.

We have won important new automotive contracts
which will come on stream over the next three years
and the strong US economic climate remains a positive
indicator for our substantial business activities in

North America.

Whilst we expect further challenges during the coming
year, we will continue our strategic progress by means of

selective acquisitions, disposals and organic development.

1 \J...\_? _\bﬁ\cj‘

CHRISTOPHER KING CBE
Chairman
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Avon at a glance 1994-1999

Improving focus and performance
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We helieve that we can apply the expertise of our employees to add value for customers

and earn satisfactory returns for our owners.

Chief Executive’s review of operations

During recent years we have been reshaping the Group
to generate sustainable value for shareholders. We believe
that we can apply the expertise of our employees to

add value for customers and earn satisfactory returns

for our owners.

We continue to invest to ensure that we have

a competitive edge in product cost as well as in
technology and geographical location. The two new
manufacturing units being set up in the UK have been
designed 1o provide lower costs as well as world class
facilities. Both buildings were completed on time and

within cost, and initial production trials are in progress.

Since we did not plan to transfer our Fabrications unit
to the new factory at Hampton Park West, the business
was sold to Checkmate UK Ltd in September. In October
we sold the CQC subsidiary which manufactures textile
based products at Barnstaple, UK, to a company set up
by the local management team. Qur best wishes for a
successful future go with the employees who have

transferred with these businesses.

During the year we were pleased to welcome Industrial
Flexo S.A. and Proflex $.A. to the Group and look

forward to the benefits of a presence in Spain.

We operate within a constantly evolving business
environment and we have announced a new
management structure 1o focus on the nexr phase of
progress. Roger Hunt will extend the period of his
secondment in North America where he is the resident
member of the Group Board and responsible for
Technical Products in that region. Steve Stone is

a member of the Group Board and is now responsible
for all European operations as well as the Materials
Development Centre which provides services world
wide. Lee Richards, President of Avon Automotive Inc.
and Janine Jones, Group Purchasing Director, are each
responsible for substantial key business activities and

now report directly to the Chief Executive.

We have succeeded in creating an international
presence in key locations around the world where local
manufacturing can benefit from the work done by our

development centres. The team of scientists and

engineers at the Materials Development Centre in

the UK has access to the most modern analytical and
test equipment and maintains close links with other
academic and industrial centres of excellence throughout
the world. Among recent projects, the team has designed
materials to overcome problems of electrochemical
degradation of traditional hose materials when used in
certain operating conditions. These materials, which
offer better performance, are now used in our

production of coolant hoses.

Product Development Centres work closely with
customers and our factories to offer innovative concepts
which take into account interfaces with other systems as
well as issues of cost and suitability for manufacrure.

Qur respirator development team were able to use
expertise gained from prior projects to quote for the
design and development of a new Joint Services General
Purpose Mask for US military personnel. If our bid is
successful we will work with specialist partners to
develop a product design which meets the customer

requirements in every respect,

The Vibration Management Systems product
development team have secured orders for innovative
products for use on vehicles to be launched over the
next three years and approval has been given to set up
a development centre for hose products which will

be based next to the factory at Cadillac, Michigan.
Multi-disciplined teams led by skilled project managers
are used to transfer technology and ensure best practice

is deployed throughout the Group.

We aspire to business excellence in all that we do

and the contribution of all employees is key to our
success. Our human resources strategy uses the Investor
in People standard as a central feature. All of Avon’s

UK sites are accredited to the [IP standard and we are
adapring and introducing vocational qualification awards
into our North American factories. The Health and
Safety of employees receives particular attention and is a

high priority on the list of management responsibilities.




Avon Automotive have

a global strategy
, driven by a focussed
commitment to

customer service
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AUTOMOTIVE

Avon Automotive recognises the important combination of local
relationships supported by global customer finks.

At constant exchange rates and including acquisitions,
turnover decreased by 3.7% to £187.8 million and
operating profits were lower by 15.4% in comparison
to 1998 at £13.2 million. The return on sales was
7.0% compared with 8.0% in 1998.

During 1999 we experienced some unexpected
incidents including the fire which destroyed our Albion,
New York factory and an earthquake which damaged
our plant at Orizaba, Mexico. I am happy to report
that there were no injuries and to say “Thank you” to
all who worked so hard to get the units back to full
production within days and so ensure our customers
did not suffer.

The Continental European plants all gained business
from new models coming on stream and from the
product lines which were transferred from the UK

and USA. Of particular relevance were the blow
moulding of air ducts and start up of Avon’s permeation
resistant fuel hose “CADbar’ in France, and increased
coolant hose production in Portugal and the Czech
Republic. The acquisition, in June 1999 of Industrial
Flexo S.A. and Proflex S.A. in Spain significantly
increased our share of the European coolant hose
market as well as providing us with new customers,
new technologies and a strong local management team.

In North America volumes remained buoyant and
our ability to introduce new variants of ‘CADbar’
maintained our technology lead despite increased
competition. The build up of coolant hose volumes
at the Orizaba factory in Mexico has established the
plant as a qualified automeotive component facility

gaining the benefits of volume and scale.

Reductions in car builds by a number of our
European customers hit the profitability of our UK
plants. These well publicised shortfalls, caused by the
late introduction of new models and by poor sales of
existing vehicles, eased during the last quarter but
affected most of the year.

Market conditions in all regions remained tough
throughout the year with continued pressure to

reduce prices. These requirements were met through

a combination of cost reductions and product redesigns.

The newly formed procurement team was able to
leverage Avon’s global purchasing and worked with
suppliers to achieve the most cost effective purchasing
practices. This development of preferred suppliers will
be of increasing importance over the next few years.

Avon Automotive has benefited substantially from an
approach which recognises the important combination

of local relationships supported by global customer links.

We have invested in Engineering, Sales Support

and Product Development Centres around the world,
These facilities work in close partnership with the major
vehicle makers to offer a comprehensive system design,
build and test service. Qur manufacturing facilities are
strategically located to ensure consistency of supply

and quality to customer production lines.

Avon Rubber p.l.c.

N° 32965




We have focussed our

strategy on those
businesses which
offer the potential
for growth and

sustainable earnings
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TECHNICAL PRODUCTS

We have focussed our strategy on those husinesses which offer
the potential for growth and sustainable earnings

As the result of actions we have taken in line with our
strategy of tighter focus, we have increased sales and
profits. Acquisitions that were made last year have been
integrated as we have continued to focus on those
businesses which offer the potential for growth and
sustainable earnings. At constant exchange rates, turnover
of £78.4 million was 10.9% higher than 1998 and
operating profits were 31.8% higher at £8.7 million with
a return on sales of 11.1% compared with 9.3% in 1998.

We are the world’s largest manufacturer of rubber
components for machine milking systems. Qur teams

in the United States and Europe maintain close liaison
with major equipment suppliers and contribute specialist
expertise to support their development programmes.
During the year we successfully transferred our dairy
rubberware business from Cadillac, Michigan, to our
Hi-Life facility in Johnson Creek, Wisconsin. This was
achieved with no disruption to our customers and has

delivered benefits in line with our plans.

Nylaflow, the braided plastic hose product fine that

was acquired from DSM last year was relocated from
Reading, Pennsylvania and the opportunity was taken to
upgrade the production equipment during the transfer
to Cadillac, Michigan.

Bell-Avon at Picayune, Mississippi, received a ‘best
value medallist” award from the US Department of
Defense for the consistent high standard of work which
places the company in the top 1% of contractors to

the US Government.

The Zatec facility near Boston, Massachusetts, which
manufactures cleaning blades for business machines,

has introduced new working methods to increase
productivity. The result has been a leaner, more focussed
operation, capable of expanding its customer base.
Blades are also manufactured in our UK Business
Machines joint venture Avon-Ames, where development
costs and low sales of established roller products led

to an unsatisfactory trading result.

Earlier investments in improved production equipment
have enhanced profitability in our market leading
aerosol gasket business and similariy enabled our plant
at Malesherbes, France, to provide supplies of high
quatity mixed compounds to other facilities in addition
to meeting its Own requirements,

FUTURE

We have an exciting future and a determination to capitalise on
the investments made.

During the year we won a number of automotive orders
which will come into production during the next three
years and provide a substantial platform for growth.
New business with General Motors, Ford, Daimler-
Chrysler, VW and Nissan for hose and anti-vibration
products results from the ongoing investment in process
and product development. This enables us to offer
innovative products at a cost effective price from our
global manufacturing base. The Gold Seal-Avon plant in
India has secured first orders from local manufacturers
Maruti, Telco and Mahindra in addition to contracts to
supply hoses for Fiat India and the recently announced
Ford Ikon.

In Mexico we have capacity to expand production at
both major sites and have a number of interesting

projects under evaluation.

We have high hopes for the new UK factories. In addition
to the move to Hampton Park West, Technical Products
UK will be seeking new business to meet the targets for
expansion to take advantage of the lower cost base.

The benefits from the state of the art mixing facility at
Westbury will become available progressively during

the year.

The changes to the management organisation will
identify opportunities for more effective use of resources
in secking opportunities for profitable growth. We have
an exciting future and a determination to capitalise on

the investments made.

STEVE WILLCOX
Chief Executive

Avon Rubber p.l.c.

N° 32965



Financial review

for the year ended 2 Cctober 1999 :

The 1999 accounts of the Group have been prepared
in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group policy is not to engage in speculation and
as a result the Group uses various types of financial
instruments to manage its exposure to market risks
which arise from its business operations. The main
risks continue to be movements in foreign currency

and interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to risk is managed by the Finance
Director who reports directly to the Board.

Each subsidiary company which undertakes a transaction
in a currency which is not its local currency reduces

the risk of fluctuations in currencies by entering into
forward exchange contracts to cover any significant

net exposure {i.e. sales less purchases in foreign

currency transactions).

The Group seeks to ensure that where possible
borrowings are arranged in the relevant currency, to
provide a hedge in respect of net assets and liabilities
held in that currency. An exposure remains which is
summarised in note 24 to the accounts. The principal
area of exposure is in respect of the US Dollar where
a 1% fluctuation in exchange rate could result in a

£0.1 million fluctuation in the Group’s net assets.

The Group has arranged facilities to meet its ongoing
requirements where borrowings are used to finance
capital investment, the loans are for periods between
5 to 10 years.

The exposure to interest rate fluctuations is protected
through obtaining fixed rates of interest. At the year
end approximately 59% of the Group’s borrowings
were at fixed interest rates (see note 24),

ACQUISITIONS

The Group acquired the entire share capitals of
Industrial Flexo 5.A. and Proflex S.A. in Spain for

a total cash consideration of £20.7 million which
included net borrowings of £3.1 million, The Group
funded the transaction from existing resources and

Euro denomination debt.

Financial review 17
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EXCHANGE RATE

The Group reports trading results of overseas
companies based upon average rates of exchange
compared with sterling over the year. The main rates
of exchange that impact Avon’s overseas profits are

as follows:
1998 1998
vE vE % Change
US Dollar 1.63 1.65 1.2
French Franc 9.87 9.87 -
Czech Crown 54.00 55.00 1.8
Portuguese Escudo 316.00 302.00 {4.6)

The balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries are converted
into sterling based on the closing rates of exchange. The
gains and losses arising on conversion are recorded in
reserves as are gains or losses arising on borrowings in
the same currencies, Most of the trading activities of
each of the subsidiary companies are in local currency.

TURNOVER

Continuing price down pressure is an ongoing feature of
our Automotive business. This year the strength of
sterling has impacted both price levels and demand

from our UK based customers.

Overall European Automotive turnover was down

by 3.4% at £90.1 million (1998: £93.3 million). UK
Automotive turnover was down by 13.6% at £59.8
million (1998: £69.2 million). There were increases in
turnover in France and Czech Republic and an
encouraging start from our new acguisitions in Spain.
The North American Automotive market remained
strong. However, our lower cost selutions and
consequent price reductions resulted in turnover being
down 5% at £97.7million {1998: £102.8 million).

In Technical Products, turnover increased to £78.3
million (1998: £71.0 million) up 10.3% as the previous
year’s acquisitions had a full year impact. Turnover in
Europe was down by £4.8 million to £41.9 million
(1998: £46.7 million) and arose from our UK
operations. In North America there was a strong
performance overall with Hi-Life and Zatec showing

good increases over the previous year’s annual turnover,

In the following summaries, 1998 figures have been restated
at 1999 rates of exchange for comparative purposes.

Group turnover in 1999 of £266.2 million compares
with the restated turnover of 1998 of £265.7 million.
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By business sector, the change in turnover is analysed

By origin, the changes in operating profit were

as follows: as follows:

£ million 1999 1998* % Change £ million 1999 1998* % Change

Automotive 187.8 195.0 -3.7  United Kingdom 13 55 -40.0

Technical Products 184 70.7 +10.9 Other European 18 25 +520

Total 266.2 265.7 +0.2  Nerth America 14.8 14.2 +4.2

* Restated at 1999 rates of exchange Total 21.9 22 14

By origin the change is as follows: * Restated at 1999 rates of exchange

£ million 1989 1998* %Change Dy business sector the changes in operating profit are

United Kingdom 08 1038  qz7 s follows:

Other European 114 364 +13.7 £ miion 1999 1998* % Change

North America 134.2 125.5 +6.9 Automotive 13.2 15.6 -15.4

Total 266.2 265.7 +0.2  Technical Products 8.7 6.6 +31.8
Total 219 222 -14

* Restated at 1999 rates of exchange

Sales by overseas companies represented 66% of Group
turnover in 1999 compared with 61% in 1998. Export
sales from UK based companies in 1999 were £40.6
million (1998: £42.2 million).

OPERATING PROFIT

The changes in operating profit reflected the changes

in turnover. UK profit was down 40.0% at £3.3 million
(1998: £5.5 million). This was offset by increases

in other parts of Europe of 52% to £3.8 million

(1998: £2.5 million) and North America up 4.2%

at £14.8 million (1998: £14.2 million).

The reduced Autemotive volumes in Europe,
particularly in the UK, and the continuous price down
pressure from manufacturers have been a feature of
the year. As a result Automotive profits are down
15.4% to £13.2 million (1998: £15.6 million) and this
represents a return on sales of 7.0% compared to 8%
in 1998. Overall Technical Products profit has improved
by 31.8% to £8.7 million (1998: £6.6 million) with
return on sales up to 11.1% (1998: 9.3%). 'This has
been achieved in the main by the strong performances
of our recent acquisitions, offsetting the predicted

reduction in the defence and energy markets.

* Restated at 1999 rates of exchange

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

The Group profit before taxation and exceptional
items has decreased by 11.6% to £20.5 million (1998:
£23.2 million) and represents a return on sales of 7.7%
compared with 8.7% in 1998 on a published basis.

TAXATION

The taxation charge of £6.3 million represents an
etfective rate of 28.1% compared with 30.2% in 1998.
As between the overseas companies and those in the
UK the effective rates compared with those of 1998

are as follows:

1999 1998

% %

UK 33 19
Overseas 27 40

The main reason for the increased rate of UK taxation
was the elimination of tax losses in 1997/98. The
overseas rate was reduced by a combination of tax

planning and high levels of capital expenditure.



CAPITAL INVESTMENT

There was a considerable capital investment
programme in 1999 which in total amounted to

£56.8 million as follows:

£ million
Acquisitions 214
New plant and mixing facility in Wiltshire 19.8
Capital expenditure in existing facilities 15.6
New Capital Investment 56.8

Ongoing capital expenditure of £15.6 million in 1999
{1998: £12.0 million) reflects the increase in development

expenditure and production systems required in the Group.

By division, capital expenditure was as follows:

£ million 1999 1998
Automotive 12.1 8.8
Technical Products 35 32
New Plant in Wiltshire 19.8 2.0
Tatal 35.4 14.0

Capital expenditure excluding new plant in Wiltshire
represented 1.6 times depreciation in 1999 of £9.7
million {1998: 1.3 times depreciation of £8.9 million),

CASH FLOW

The opening net debt position of the Group was
£2.5 million. There was a change of £43.9 million
in the year with Group debt of £46.4 million at the
year-end, representing a gearing ratio of 50.5% of

shareholders” equity.

The ratio of trading working capital as a percentage

of turnover increased to 14.4% in 1999 compared with
13.5% in 1998 because of higher debtors and stock at
the end of the year.

Financial review 18

The main features in the cash flow this year were

as follows:

£ million
Net Debt at end of 1998 (2.5)
Acquisitions (21.4)
Capital expenditure
Ongoing (15.6)
Disposals 31

{12.5)

New plant in Wiltshire {19.8)

QOther ¢ash flow 9.3
Net debt at end of 1999 (46.4)

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED

The return on capital employed was 16.8% compared
with 26.2% in 1998.

After adjusting for the capital expenditure on the New
Plant in Wiltshire which will become operational at
the beginning of the year 2000 and the goodwill costs
relating to the Flexo acquisition, the return on capital
would be 22.6%.

TERRY STEAD

Finance Director
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Board of Directors

CHRISTOPHER KING CBE

Chairman

Aged 63, He has been a member of
the board since January 1995 and
was appointed Chairman in January
1997. He spent 35 years with BP in
turope and the US and was Chairman
of BP Europe until retiring in 1994. He
is a Non-Executive Director of the BOC
Group plc and the Canada Life Group
{U.K.) Limited. He has an MBA from
INSEAD and is a member of the
INSEAD board. He was made a CBE in
the 1995 New Year's Honours List.

ROGER HUNT

Executive Director

Aged 55. He was appointed to the
board in September 1997, having
joined the company in May 1994

as Director of Corporate Planning.
Based in Cadillac, Michigan, he is
responsible for the North American
operations of Avon Technical Products
and the Corporate Office of Avon
Rubber & Plastics Inc. A chartered
Engineer, he previously worked for
Lucas in Europe and, immediately
prior ta joining Aven, was based in the
K as Southwest Regional Director for
PA Management Consultants.

STEVE WILLCOX
Chief Executive

Aged 53. He was appointed to the
hoard in 1991 as the director
responsible for Avon’s polymer
interests in Europe, becoming Chief
Executive on 1 January 1995. An
henours graduate of Durham
University, he first joined Avon in 1968
as a graduate trainee, moving in 1973
to a personnel and training roe in the
pharmaceutical industry. He returned
to Avon in 1977 as Personnet Director
of our Melksham operations.

ERIC PRIESTLEY

Non-Executive Director

Aged 57. He was appointed to the
hoard in February 1998. He has
receatly been based in the United
States as Chief Operating Officer of
Jefterson Smurfit Corporation and,
previously, the President and Chief
Executive of Rexam Inc. He was
formeriy a director of Redland PLC
and of Rexam PLC. He is currently the
Non-Executive Chairman of Lynx
Express Limited, Weir Holdings
Limited and Weaverman S.A,,

a Non-Executive Director of Southwire
Company of Atlanta, US and is on

the Board of Advisors of Duke

Street Capitai.
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TERRY STEAD

Finance Director

Aged 50. He joined the companyan I
September 1598 and was appointed to
the board on 5 October 1998. An
honours graduate from Bristol
University, he qualified as a chartered
accountant with KPMG. He was Group
Finance Directar of Haw Group plc until
the take-cver of that company by Tilbury
Douglas in June 1998, having
previously worked for several years with
Lucas Industries plc in a number of
senior finance roles,

TREVOR BONNER CBE

Deputy Chairman and

Senior Independent Director
Aged 56, A chartered accountant, he
was appointed to the board in
September 1994, He was appointed
Deputy Chairman in March 1998 and
Senior Independent Director in July
1698 A former Executive Director of
GKN ple, he is President of CLEPA { the
European Association of Automotive
Suppliers), Deputy President of the
Society of Motor Manufacturers and
Traders and a Nen-Executive Director
of LDV Limited. He was made a CBE in
the 1596 Birthday Honours List,

STEVE STONE

Executive Director

Aged 49. He was appointed to the
board on } June 1995 having
previously been Managing Director of
Avon Automotive Components. He is
now responsible for Avon's operations
in Europe and for the Materials
Development Centre in Westbury,
Wiltshire. A graduate chemist and
Feltow of the Institute of Materials, he
is a director of the Wiltshire and
Swindon Tec and Chairman of the
Wittshire and Swinden Lifelong
Learning Partnership.

Committees of the board

The Chairman and the Non-Executive
Directors are the members of the
Senicr Fxecutive Remuneration and
Benefits Commitiee, the Neminations
Committee and the Audit Commitee.
Mr. C.P. King is Chairman of afl the
Committees, except for the Audit
Committee of which Mr. T.C. Bonner is
Chairman.
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Directors’ Report

for the year ended 2 Cctober 1999

The directors submi} the one hundred and ninth annual report and audited financial statements of the company for the year ended 2 October 1999.

1. Principal activities and business review

The principal activities of the Group are:
+  Manufacture of components for the automotive industries
»  Manuiacture of gther polymer based products

The business review, including commentary on future developments, is covered on pages 1-19.

2. Results and dividend

The Group profit for the year befare taxation and exceptional items amounts to £20,484,000 (1998 £23,187,000). The Group profit for the year after
taxation and minority interests but before exceptional items amounts to £14,360,000 {1998: £16,438,000). An interim dividend of 7.0p per share
{1998: 6.6p} was paid on 2 July 1999. The directors recommend a final dividend of 17.2p per share {1998: 16.2p) making a total of 24.2p per share for
the year to 2 October 1999 (1998: 22.8p). Full details are set out in the profit and loss account on page 32. The total distributicn of dividends for the
year to 2 October 1999 is £6,733,000 (1998: £6,298,000),

3. Directors

The names of the Directors as at 7 December 1399 are set out on page 21. None of the Directors has a beneficial interest in any contract to which the
parent company or any subsidiary was a party during the year. Beneficial interests of Directors, their families and trusts in ordinasy shares of the
company cah be feund on page 28.

Mr 5.). Stone and Mr R.A. Hunt retire in rotation as Directors and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Mr JW. Cutts and Mr LAH. McPhie
resigned as Directors on 12 January 1999 and 20 January 1999 respectively.

Mr 5.). Stone and Mr R.A. Hunt have service contracts with the company requiring two years’ notice of fermination, subject to retirement at age 60.

4. Substantial shareholdings

At 1 December 1999, the following shareholders held 3% or more of the Company's issued erdinary share capital,

Deutsche Asset Management 8.69%
Schroder Investment Management Limited 8.29%
Prudential Portfelio Managers Limited 8.12%
Scudder Threadneadle Investment Limited 7.29%
Aberforth Partners 5.34%
Edinburgh Fund Managers plc 5.17%
Britannic Assurance plc 4.33%
Mercury Asset Management Limited 4.33%
Fleming Investment Managers Limited 4.26%
Jupiter Asset Management Limited 3.18%
SLC Asset Management Limited 3.01%

5. Political and charitable contributions
No political contributions were made during the year. Contributions for charitable purposes amounted to £65,000 (1598: £69,000},

6. Creditor payment policy

Qperating husinesses are responsible for agresing the terms and conditions under which business transactions with their suppliers are conducted.
It is Group policy that payments are made in accordance with these terms, provided that the supplier is also complying with all relevant terms
and conditions.

For the year ended 2 October 1999, the number of days’ purchases cutstanding at the end of the financial year for the Group was 43 days

{1998: 49 days) based on the ratio of trade crediters at the end of the year to the amounts invoiced during the year by trade creditors, On the
same basis the number of days’ purchases outstanding for the parent company was & days (1998: 38 days).
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7. Disabled persons

It is the policy of the Group to encourage the employment and develepment of suitable disabled persons. No unnecessary limitations are placed on the
type of work that they perform and the policy ensures that in appropriate cases consideration is given to modifications to equipment or premises and
to adjustments in working practices. Full and fair consideration will be given tc disabled applicants for employment and existing employees who
hecome disabled will have the oppertunity to retrain and continue in employment.

8. Employee involvement

Employee consultation, communication and involvement have long been recognised as being of great value and these practices will be maintained as
a vital element in our drive to achieve the highest standards of training and development. Consultation enables employees’ views to be taken into
account in matters which may affect their interests and, as part of our continuous improvement activity, supervisors and employees meet regularly to
tackle probiems together in a teamwork atmosphere.

In its UK operations the company has been recognised as an Investor In People and will be using the IIP framewesk in its businesses around the world.

9. Research and development

The Group’s investment in research and development in the year to 2 October 1999 amounted to £4.6 million (1998: £4.6 million).

We continue to work closely with our customers and major suppliers, often through joint development programmes, to improve the performance and
cost effectiveness of our products. The recently established Materials Development Centre in the UK and the Hose Devetopment Centre shortly to be
established in the USA are designed to provide technical support to the Group's world-wide manufacturing operations. These centres also have the role
of capturing and sharing Avon’s technicak knowledge. This combination of preduct design skills and materials knowledge enables Avon to offer unique
solutions to its customers from the forefront of palymer technolagy.

10. Health, Safety and the Environment
The directers consider the health, safety and environmental protection aspects of our business to be of great importance, as the prevention of personal

injuzy, the avoidance of damage to health and the protection of the environment contribute to the running of an efficient business.

Management practices within the Group will ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health, safety and welfare at work of our employees,
contractors and visitors, the health and safety of all other persons affected by our business activities and the effective planning and implementation
of environmental controls, in line with appropriate legislation, standards and best practice,

11. Year 2000

QOver the Jast three years the Group has conducted a review aimed at ensuring that all IT systems will be Year 2000 compliant in time te support
business operations and that all embedded chips in production and process equipment are checked and where necessary replaced. This review has
heen extensive and subject to external audit hy specialist consultants acting for customers and we believe that we have taken all reasonable steps to
ensure that ail significant IT systems (including producticn and process equipment] will be compliant by the end of the year, However, the diversity of
systems in use and reliance on third parties for some services means that it is impossibie to guarantee that no Year 2000 problems will arise.

Contingency and "Roll Over" plans have been designed to promate a smooth transition to the new millennium and te minimise disruption caused
by unexpected infernal or external failures. Major customers and suppliers have been contacted and where appropriate Avon staff have carried out
on-site audits.

The incremental costs of this exercise have been covered within normal IT expenditure and are not considered material.

12. Auditors

A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhcuseCoopers as auditors will be

By order of the board

C.L. Martin, Secretary
Bradford-on-Avon, Wiltshire .
8 Dacember 1999 : 8{/\/

t the annual general meeling,
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Statement of compliance with the Combined Code

The Gompany believes in high standards of Corporate Governance and the Board is accountabie to sharehoiders for the Group’s performance in this
area. This statement describes how the Group is applying the relevant principles of governance, as set out in the Combined Cede of the Principles of
Good Governance and Code of Best Practice ("the Combined Code”) annexed to the Listing Rules of the London Stock Exchange. For this purpose this
statement will address separately the four main subject areas of the Combined Code namely the Beard, Directars’ Remuneration, Relations with
Shareholders and Accountability and Audit.

The Company has complied throughout the year with the pravisions of the Combined Code except that as the Combined Code had not been implemented
by the end of the year in respect of which the Company was reporting, the Company did not anngunce the level of proxy votes on resolutions proposed at
the 1999 annual general meeting as contemplated by paragraph €.2.1 of the Combined Code. The Company will be fellowing the Combined Code
pravisiens in relation to proxy vote disclosures at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

1. The Board

The Aven Board currently comprises a Non-Executive Chairman, two other independent Non-Executive Directors, the Chief Executive and three other
Executive Directors. Biographies of the Directors appear on page 21 and these illustrate the range of business, financial and global experience which
the Board is able to call upon. This reflects the specific intention of the Board that its membership should be weli balanced beth numerically and in
terms of experience,

The Board is satisfied that all its Non-Executive Members are independent, One of their roles is to undertake detailed examination and discussion of
strategies praposed by the Executive Directors so as to ensure that decisions are in the best long-term interests of shareholders and take proper
account of the interests of the Company's other stakeholders, The Non-Executive Directors fully review the Group's operational performance and the
Board as a whole has, with a view to reinforcing its contral of the company, reserved a number of important powers solely to itself.

In order to achieve the foregoing objectives, all Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information and the Board meets regularly with
appropriate contact hetween meetings. Procedures are in place, which have been agreed by the Board, for Directars in the furtherance of their duties to
take independent professional advice if necessary at the Company's expense.

In order to anticipate requirements of good governance, Mr. T.C Bonner, CBE, who is Deputy Chairman, was appointed senior independent director in July
1998 and the Board obtained shareholder approval in the same year to a change to the Articles of Association under which all Directors, whether
Executive or Non-Executive, are obliged to retire and, if appropriate, seek re-glection by the shareholders at least every three years, Additionally, the
Non-Executive Directors are appointed by the Beard for specified terms, and reappointment is nat automatic.

Of particular importance in a governance context are the three Committees of the Board, namely the Remuneration Committee, the Nominations
Committee and the Audit Committee. These Committees comprise, solely, all the Non-Executive Directors; the Remuneration and Nominations
Committees are chaired by Mr C.PKing and the Audit Committee is chaired by Mr T.C.Bonner.

The Remuneration Committee's principal responsibilities are to make recommendations to the Board on remuneration policy and to determine
remuneration packages and other terms and conditions, including appropriate performance related benefits, for Executive Directors and other Senior
Executives. The Chief Executive attends meetings of the Committee by invitation, but is absent when issues relating to him are discussed.

The Nominations Committee, to which the Chief Executive is normally invited, reviews the Board structure, identifies candidates to fill vacancies on the
Board and addresses Board level succession planning. In identifying potential candidates for positions as Nen-Executive Directors, the Committee has
full regard to the principles of the Combined Code regarding the indeperdence of Non-Executive Directors.

The Audit Committes meets twice a year. The meetings are also attended by representatives of the Group’s internal and external auditors and such of
the Executive Directors as are appropriate to the items under discussion. At all meetings time is allowed for the Audit Committee to discuss issues with
the external auditors with no Executive Directors present, As well as reviewing draft preliminary and interim statements, the Committee considers
reports prepared by the internal and external auditors and moniters all services provided by, and fees payable te, the external auditors to ensure that an
objective and professional retationship is maintained. As part of its work, and in line with its terms of reference, the Committee particularly considers
the discharge of the Board's responsibilities in the areas of Corperate Gavernance, Financial Reporting and Corporate Control,

2. Directors’ Remuneration

Remuneratien of the company’s Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Board, following research undertaken by the Group Personnel Director ang
advice from independent external sources. The Non-Executive Directors da not vote on any remuneration issue affecting themselves.

The company's policy on Executive Directors’ remuneration, as set cut in the two following paragraphs, has been prepared by the Remuneration
Gommittee and approved by the full Board of Directors.

The Remuneration Committee seeks to establish an overall package of salary, incentives, pensior and other benefits which will be competitive when
compared with other manufacturing companies of 2 similar size and global spread.

The Remuneration package takes into account the linkage between pay and performance by both rewarding effective management and by making the
enhancament of shareholder vafue a critical factor in the setting of incentives, whether in the short or longer term.
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Executive Directors” remuneration comprises four elements: -

Salary

The basis of setting salaries s consideration of the Executive Directors' experience and responsibility. Comparisons with other companies of a similar
size and global spread, as well as consideration of the rates of salary increases within the company as a whole, are also taken inte account when
salaries are sef or increases are given, Execufive Director salaries are reviewed annually,

Bonus

Bonus is based on annual targets set by the Remuneration Committee linked to the Company's financial performance. The targets are set before the
start of the financial year and are designed to be stretching. Two elements are normally used, profit before taxation and cashflow performance. Both
these elements link directly to enhanced shareholder value.

As further linkage to the enhancement of shareholder valug, 50% of any bonus paid is used to buy company shares as part of the Long-term
incentive Pian.

Bonus payments are not pensionable.

Pension and Other Benefits

Executive Directors are members of the Senior Executive Section of the Avon Rubber Retirement and Death Benefit Plan, a contributory defined benefit
scheme based on length of service and earnings. The level of contribution from the scheme members and the company are assessed annually. For the
year ended 2 October 1999 the contribution rates were 5.5% from the members and 10.1% from the company including National insurance rebates. For
Mr.R.A. Hunt and Mr.TK.P. Stead, who joined the company after the intreduction of the pensianable safary cap, a funded unapproved retirement benefits
scheme has heen put in place. Executive Directors are provided with private health insurance for themselves and applicable members of their
immediate families and are also able to participate in the Company’s SAYE Share Option Scheme.

Lang-term Incentive Plai

tn 1996 a Long-term Incentive Plan was approved by shareholders. Executive Directors use 50% of any annual bonus to purchase company shares
{contributed shares) on the open market, at the time that the bonus is awarded. Three years from the date of purchase of the contributed shares,
matching shares may be awarded up to three times the number of the contributed shares, based on total sharehoider return over the period.

Total sharehcider return is measured against a comparator group of small and medium capitalised companies. To achieve the maximum award of three
times the number of contributed shares, the company must be in the top 20% of its comparater group. The measurement of performance is carried out
independently.

The Remuneration Committee has considered the conciusions of the Hampel Committee with regard to the notice period given to Executive Directors for
termination of their service contracts. Currently this notice period stands at 24 manths, The Committee believes that this continues to be appropriate
and enables the company to be competitive, attracting Directors of the calibre necessary to run a diverse multi-national business. The Remuneration
Committee strongly endorses the principle ¢f mitigation of loss on early termination of a service contract and takes care to ensure that poor
performance is not rewarded.

An account of directors’ participation in the Long Term Incentive Plan, and in Share Option Schemes, together with details of directors’ emoluments,
pensions and interests in Company's shares, is set out on pages 27 to 29.

3. Relations with Shareholders

We regard communications with shareholders as extremely important. In terms of published materials the company issues carefully prepared annual
reports and accounts and, at the half year, an interim repost. Dialogue takes place regularly with institutional shareholders and general presentations
are given following the pratiminary and interim results. Sharehelders have the opportunity te ask questions at the annual general meeting and also
have the opportunity to leave written questions for the company's response. Directors meet informally with shareholders after the annual general
meeting and the Company responds throughout the year to correspondence from individual shareholders on a wide range of issues.

At the annual general meeting on 19 January 2000 the Board will be following the recommendations in the Combined Code regarding the constructive
use of annual general meetings; in particular, the agenda will include & presentation by the Chief Executive on aspects of the company's business.
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4. Accountability and Audit

The Combined Code has introduced a requirement that directors review the effectiveness of the Group's system of internal controls. This requirement
extends the directors’ review to cover all controls including operational compliance controls and risk management as well as financial contrals. The
Board is aware of the formal guidance on the review of non financial internal controls which has been published by he task force established by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales and intends to ensure that appropriate procedures are put in place to reflect that guidance, In
the meantime, the Directors consider that they have ohserved the principles of the Combined Code in the financial year 1998/99.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Group's system of internal financial control and the Board reviews this system and its

effectiveness on an annual basis. Such a system can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatements or losses.

The following paragraphs describe relevant key procedures within the Group’s systems of internal financial contrel and the process by which the

Directors have reviewed their effectiveness.

¢ Systems exist throughout the group which provide for the creation of three year plans and annual budgets; monthly reports enable the Board to
compare performance against budget and to take action where appropriate.

* Aninternal audit function is in place with staff in the UK and in the US.

*  Procedures are in place to identify any major business fisks and to evaluate their potential financial etfects. In this connection the Board
carries out a detaifed annual review of the risks facing the Group at the top level. Additionaily, some years ago, the Board created a Risk
Management Steering Group with the objective of enhancing the risk management culture within the Group, of assisting businesses fo identify
and control their risks and to make palicy proposals to the Board in this area.

*  There is a clearly defined delegation of authority from the Board to the operating companies, with appropriate reparting tines from business
managers to individual Executive Directors.

¢ There are procedures for the authorisation of capital expenditure and investment, together with procedures for post-completion appraisal.

* [nternal financial controls are in existence which provide reasonahle assurance of the maintenance of proper accounting records and the
reliabifity of financial information used within the business or for publication.

e The Board has issued a Policy and Code an Business Conduct which reinforces the importance of the internal firancial controfs. This Policy
and Code is reviewed annually.

*  Although the Board itself retains the uttimate power and authority in relation to decision making, the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors meets regularly with management and external and internal auditors to review specific accounting, reporting and financial contral
matters. The Committee also reviews the interim, preliminary and annual statements.

Going Concern

After making enquiries the directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, formed a judgement that there is a reasonable expectation
that the company has adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the directors continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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Executive Share Incentive Scheme 1996 (“the 1996 Scheme”)

At the 1996 Annual General Meeting shareholders approved the 159596 Scheme, a description of which was contained in the 1395 Repaert and Accounts.
Briefly, the 1996 Scheme provides that executive directors will take a percentage of any annual bonus in the form of shares on the basis that three
years later a number of matching shares (up to a maximum of three times the number of shares faken as part of any annual bons} may be awarded,
dependent on the Group's performance in terms of fotal shareholder return as compared with a comparator group of companies. In the year under review
executive directors and other senior employees bought a total of 16,037 shares as part of their annual bonhus for the 1997/98 financiat year.

The maximum number of shares comprised in the conditional awards to directors and senior employees under this Scheme in its first three years of
operation are as foilows;

Total granted Granted Granted Granted

to date 1999 1998 1997

S.J. Witlcox 28,305 14,034 8,088 6,183

S.5. Stone 18,090 9,090 5124 3,876

LA H. McPhie 20,148 9,927 5,793 4478

. R.A Hunt 10,335 7878 1,518 939
Other senior employees 21831 9,618 4,866 1,347

In accordance with the rules of the 1996 scheme, the conditional award to LA.H. McPhie did not lapse when he Jeft the Board in January 1999,

In accordance with UITF 17, the fair value of the shares at the date the conditional award was granted is charged to the profit and loss account over the
performance period.

Pensions

Al the executive directors are currently members of the Group’s Senior Executive Retirement and Death Benefits Plan, Subject to Infand Revenue limits,
members are eligible for a pension of up to two thirds of final pensionable salary upon retirement at the age of 60, provided that the minimum service
requirement of 20 years has been met. Additicnally, defined contribution schemes are in place for the benefit of MrR.A. Hunt and Mr. T. K. P. Stead.

Directors’ basic salaries are the only pensionabie element of their remuneration packages.

Directors’ Emoluments

Basic Total emoluments Pension ** Total emoluments
salary Bther Annual excluding pensions contributions including pensions
E fees benefits bonus 1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1988
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'o0e £'000 £'000 £000
Executive
. 3.). Willcox (highest paid director) 204 17 13 234 282 - - 234 282
R.A. Hunt 11z 47 6 i6d 170 - iz 166 182
I.AH. McPhie (until 20.1.99) 4 38 - 82 202 44 17 126 219
D.C. Samardich {until 31.12.97} ~ - - - 210 - 15 - 225
THK.P. Stead {irom 5.10.99} 110 14 5 129 - 6 - 135 -
S.). Stone 133 15 7 155 186 - - 155 186
Non-Executive
C.P. King CBE (Chairman) 43 - - 43 a0 - - 43 40
T.C. Bonner CBE {Deputy Chairman} 19 - - 14 18 - - 19 18
JW. Cutts (until 12.1.99) 5 - - 5 13 - - 5 18
G.TE. Priestley {from 1.2.98) 19 - - i9 12 - - 19 12
Total 1999 689 126 n B46 - 50 - 896 -
Total 1998 674 239 225 - 1,138 - 44 - 1,182

** Pension contributions represent the company's contribution to defined contribution schemes.
No director waived emoluments in respect of the year ended 2 October 1999.
Gther benefits paid to LAH. McPhie include £30,000 compensation for foss of office in accordance with the terms of his service contract.
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Executive Directors’ Pensions

The Stock Exchange Listing Rules require the disclosure of certzin additional information relating to the pensians of executive directors under defined
bhenefit schemes. This infermation is set out below.

S.J. Willcox 5.J. Stone TK.P Stead R.A. Hunt
Accrued entitlement as at 2 October 1999 £102,963p.a. £66,651p.a. £3217pa. £16,087p.a
Increase in accrued entitlement aver the period in £11,335p.a. £4,165p.a, £2942n.a. £3,418p.a.
excess of the increase awarded to deferred pensianers
Contributions paid by each director over the period £11,233 £6,963 £4,859 £4,859
Increase in the transfer value over the year £88,408 £12,793 £29,373 £35,549

(net of the director’s contributions)

The accrued lump sum under the defined benefit scheme for the highest paid director at 2 October 1999 was £52,148 (1998: £49,380).

Directors’ Interests
Beneficial interests of directors, their families and trusts in ordinary shares of the company were:

At the heginning

of the year or At the end

date of appointment of the year

C.P. King CBE 6,000 6,000
TC. Bonner CBE 2,000 2,000
R.A. Hunt 1,288 3,812
G.LE. Priestley 2,000 12,000
THKP Stead 2,000 2,000
$.J. Stone 7,666 16,578
SJ. Willcox 15,761 25,559

Additionally, the company operates a qualifying employee share ownership trust {"Quest") which is used to deliver shares to employees exercising their
options under the Savings Related Share Option Scheme. By virtue of their participation, or potential participation, in that Scheme, Mr. S.J. Willcox,

Mr. S.J. Stone, Mr. TK.P. Stead and Mr. R.A. Hunt have an interest in the shares heid by the Quest. At 2 October [999 £37,044 shares were held in the
Quest (3 October 1998: 201,110 shares).

There were no movements in directors’ shareholdings between the end of the financial year and 8 December1999.

Details of directors’ share options held, exercised and granted during the year are as follows:

Executive Share Option Scheme:

Number of Granted Exercised Number of Exercisable

apticns during during opliens Exercise at any

at 3/10/98 the year the year at 2/10/39 price (£) time up to

SJ. Willcox 24,000 - - 24,000 581 Feb 2004
60,000 - - 60,000 5.10 Jun 2005

S.J. Stone 15,000 - - 15,000 581 Feb 2004
24,000 - - 24,000 5.10 Jun 2005

i.AH. McPhie 39,000 - - 39,000 5.03 Apr 2001
R.A. Hunt 15,000 - - 15,000 5.10 May 2005

In the case of Mr. LAH. McPhie, the remuneration committee has determined that his executive share options may be exercised at any time up to
5 April 2001,

No directors’ optiens have lapsed during the year unexercised.
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Savings Related Share Option Schemes:

Avon Rubber n.l.c. 2@

Number of Eranted Exercised Humber of
options during during options Exercise Exercisable
at 3/10/98 the year the year at 2/10/99 price (£) during
S.J, Willcox 5,301 - 5,301 - 2.55 -
841 - - 841 3.80 2003
3,253 - - 3,253 5.01 2005
S.). Store 1,125 - - 1,125 330 2001
1,322 - - 1,322 5.79 2002
1,060 - - 1,060 501 2003
R.A. Hunt 1,062 - - 1,062 3.67 2002
1,203 - - 1,203 5.79 2002
1,683 - - 1,683 3.80 2003
234 - - 234 5.01 2003

No directors’ options have lapsed during the year unexercised.

As at 2 October 1999 ather emplayees held options for 582,326 ordinary shares, exercisable between 1999 and 2008, at option prices ranging

from £3.67 to £5.79.
All options are over ordinary shares of £1 each.

As at 2 October 1999, the market price of Avan Rubber p.l.c. shares was £5.10 (1998: £4.05). During the year the highest and lowest market prices

were £6.00 and £3.94 respectively.
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Caompany law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs

of the company and the Group and of the profit or loss of the company and the Group for that periad. In preparing those financial statements,

the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

* make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

* state whether applicable accounting standards have been follawed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

* prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors ara responsible for keeping proper acceunting recerds which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position

af the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

By order of the board
C.L. Martin, Secretary

Bradford-on-Avon, Wiltshire
8 December 1999

Avon Rubber p.l.c.
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Report of the auditors to the members of Avon Rubber p.l.c.

We have audited the financiaf statements on pages 32 to 59 which have been prepared under the historical cest convention as modified by the
revaluation of certain fixed assets and the accounting policies set out on pages 37 to 38.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, including as described on page 30 the financial statements. Qur responsibilities, as
independent auditors, are established by statute, the Auditing Practices Board, the Listing Rules of the London Stock Exchange and our prafession’s
ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the directors” repart is not consistent with the financial statements, if the company has not
kept proper accounting recosds, if we have not received all the infarmation and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law
or the Listing Rules regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

We review whether the statement on pages 24 to 29 reflects the company's compliance with those provisiens of the Combined Code specified for

aur review by the London Stock Exchange, and we report if it does not. We are not required to form an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s or
Group's corporate gavernance procedures o its internal contrals.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board, An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as te obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other

Chantered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Bristol
& December 1999
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
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1998 1998
Note £7000 £000
Turnover 2
Continuing activities 261,142 267,085
Acqguisitions 5022 -
Total turnover 266,164 267,085
Cost of sales {14012y 216,174
Gross profit 52,152 50,911
Net operating expenses 3 (36,218} (28,586}
Share of operating ({osses}/profits of
joint ventures and assaciates 4 (54} 26
Operating profit 2
Continuing activities .40 22,35
Acquisitions (after £163,000 (1998: nil) goodwill amortisation) 459 ~
Total operating profit 21,880 22,351
Profit on sale of properties - 953
Loss on sale of fixed asset investment - (275)
Profit on disposal of fixed assets 5 1,422 -
Profit on ordinary activities before interest 23,302 23,069
Interest payable 6 (4,532} {3,014}
Interest receivable & 3,136 3,850
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 7 21,906 23,905
Taxation ) (6,257} (7,003}
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 15,549 16,902
Minority interests 133 754
Profit for the year 15,782 17,156
Dividends (including non-equity inferests) 9 (6,733) {6,298}
Retained profit for the year 28 9,049 10,858
Earnings per ordinary share 10
Basic 56.8p 62.4p
Before exceptional items 53.5p 59.8p
Diluted 56.7p 6L.7p

There is no material diféerence between the profit as stated above and that calculated on an historical cost basis.
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1999 1998
Note £'000 £'000
Profit for the year 15,782 17,156
Met exchange differences on cverseas investments 28 (431} (1,268}
Totai gains and losses for the year 15,351 15,888
Shareholders’ Funds
for the year ended 2 October 1969
1999 1498
£ene £'000
Opening shareholders” funds 80,405 105,791
Profit for the year 15,7182 17,156
Dividends (6,733) (6,298)
Net exchange difference on cverseas investments {431) (1,268}
flew share capital subscribed {net) 534 73
Goodwill written off on acquisitions - {35,249}
Clasing sharehalders’ funds 89,557 80,405
Equity shareholders’ funds 89,057 79,905
Non-equity shareholders’ funds 500 500
89,557 80,405
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at 2 October 1999
1999 1598
Note £000 £000 £000 £000
Fixed assets
intangible asssts 13 12,788 -
Tangible assets 14 102,102 67,408
[nvestments 16 800 1,001
115,790 68,409
Current assets
Stocks 19 24,014 21,444
Debtors — Amounts falling due within one year 20 571,579 48,502
Debtors — Amounts falling due after more than one year 20 5,112 541%
tnvestments 21 - 36,800
Cash at hank and in hand 11,336 6,473
104,701 118,638
Greditors
Amaunts falling due within one year 22 67,215 55,389
Net current assets 37,486 63,249
Total assets less current liabilities 153,276 131,658
Creditors
Amounts falfing due after more than one year 23 59,119 43,564
Provisions for liahilities and charges 25 5,276 5,263
61,391 48,827
Net assets 91,885 82,831
Capital and reserves
Share capital 27 28,324 28,218
Share premium account 28 34,070 33,642
Revaluation reserve 28 2123 2,735
Profit and loss account 28 24,440 15,810
Shareholders’ funds (including non-equity interests) 89,557 80,405
Minority interests (equity interests) 2,328 2,426
91,885 82,331

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 8 December 1999 and were signed on its behaif by:

C.P. Xing CBE
S.J. Willcox

O
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Parent Company Balance Sheet

at 2 October 1999

1999 1998
Note £'000 £000 £000 £000
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 15 21,674 2,096
Investments 17 90,437 94,295
H2,1M 96,391
Current assets
Debtors 20 10,321 8,371
Investments 21 - 36,800
Cash at hank and in hand 32,590 2,034
42911 47,205
Creditors
Amounts falling due within one year 22 45,666 30,261
Net current (liabilities)/assets {2,755) 16,944
Total assets less current liahilities 109,356 113,335
Creditors
Amounts falling due after more than cne year 23 - 1,067
Net assets 109,356 112,268
Capital and reserves
Share capital 27 28,34 28218
Share premium account 29 34,070 33,642
Merger reserve 29 16,439 16,439
Revaluation reserve 29 109 733
Profit and loss account 29 29,814 33,236
Shareholders’ funds (including nen-equity interests) 108,356 112,268

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 8 December 1999 and were signed on its behalf by:

G.P. King CBE
)

S.J. Willcox
. / / .
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1939 1998
Note £'000 £000 £1000 £000
Net cash flow from operating activities 31 22,226 33,093
Dividends from joint ventures and associates - 149
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 3,004 4,344
Interest paid (4,867} 2,777)
Interest paid on finance leases (118} {165)
Preference dividends paid (39 (25}
Dividends paid to minority shareholders - (147
{1,926) 1,230
Taxation
Carporation tax paid {4,215} {7.624)
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of tangible fixed assets {35,358) (14,047)
Sale of tangible fixed assets 3,132 1,169
Purchase of fixed asset investments - {292
Sale of fixed asset investments - 145
(32,226) {13,025
Acquisitions and disposals
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings 30 (18,351 (44,264
Net cash acquired 30 394 ?
(17,957) (44,262)
Equity dividends paid {6,394) {5,930
Net cash outflow before management of liquid resources and financing {40,492} {36,369
Management of liquid resources
Decrease/(increase) in cash deposits treated as liquid resources 21 36,800 {1,800
Financing
Issue of ordinary shares 534 213
Issue of shares to minority shareholders - 149
Repayment of loans - {7,986)
New loans 14,313 35,689
New finance leases 194 (766)
Principal payments under finance leases (807) -
14,294 27359
Increase/(decrease) in cash in the period 32 10,602 {10,810
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Accounting Policies " **°%°

for the year ended 2 October 1999

Accounting period

The cempany's accounting period ends on the Saturday nearest to 30 September each year. The period ended 2 Octoker 1999 consisted of
52 weeks (1998: 53 weeks).

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards in the United Kingdom. A summary of the more
important accounting policies which have been applied consistently, with the exception of the capitalisation of goodwill and interest, is set out
below. The financial statements are prepared on the historicat cost basis, modified by the inclusion of certain fixed assets at valuation.

Consolidation

Subsidiaries acquired have been dealt with in the consolidated accounts using acquisition accounting. Uson the acquisition of a subsidiary, the
fair values that reflect the condition at the date of acquisition are attributed to the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. Adjustments are
made to bring the accounting policies of subsidiaries acquired into alignment with those of the Group, Where the consideration paid exceeds the
fair value of the acquired assets, the difference is treated as goodwill.

In accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Ne. 1¢ "Goodwill and Intangible Assets” (FRS10), goodwill arising on acquisitions made on or
after 3 October 1998 is capitalised and amortised on a straight line basis over its useful ecenomic life. Previously, all goodwill was written off
against reserves in the year of acquisition. On the subsequent disposal or termination of a previously acquired business, the profit or loss on
disposal is determined after including the attributable amount of purchased goodwill previously written off. The results of businesses acquired are
incfuded from the effective date of acquisition and businesses seld are included up to the date of disposal.

Deferred taxation

Provision is made for deferred taxation, using the liahility method, on ali material timing differences to the extent that it is probable that the
liability or asset will crystallise. Full provision is made for deferred taxation on timing differences arising from the provision of employee pensions
ard other post-retirement henefits,

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are used to reduce the exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks. Instruments qualify for hedge accounting
where the underlying asset er liability has characteristics which can be directly related to the instrument transacted. The gains and fosses on those
instruments gqualifying for hedge accounting are recognised in the financial statements over the life of the transaction.

Where a derivative financial instrument no longer meets the criteria for a hedge, the instrument is restated at market value and any gains or
lasses are taken direct to the profit and loss account. The Group excludes all shert-term debtors and creditors from the derivatives and financial
instruments disclosares (other than those on currency risk relating to monetary assets and liabilities).

Exchange rates

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the ¢losing rate of exchange at the balance sheet date or the rate of
exchange at which the transaction is contracted to be settled in the future. Profit and loss accounts of foreign Group undertzkings are translated
at average rates of exchange. Balance sheets are translated at year end rates. Exchange profits and losses arising from these translations and on
foreign currency borrowings relating to overseas investments are taken to reserves and reported in the conselidated statement of fotal recognised
gains and losses. Other exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

Fixed asset investments

Investments in associated undertakings are stated at the Group’s share of net assets at cost. The Group's share of the profits of asseciated
undertakings is included in the profit and loss account,

For investments in joint ventures, the Group’s share of the aggregate gross assets and liabilities of the investment is included in the balance sheet
and the Group's share of the profit/({less) of the joint venture is included in the profit and loss acceunt.

[nvestments in Group un'dertakings are stated at cost less amounts written off to reflect any permanent diminution in value.
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Interest

interest is capitalised gross during the period of construction where it relates either to the financing of majos projects with long periods
of development or to dedicated financing of other projects. All other interest is charged against income.

Leased assets

Assets which are the subject of finance lease agreements, which transfer to the Group substantially alf the benefits and risks of ownership of the
assets, are dealt with as tangible assets and equivalent liabilities at the cost of outright purchase. Rentals are apportioned between reduction of
the liahilities and finance charges, calculated on a reducing balance basis over the primary lease period. Operating lease rentals are charged
against profit over the term of the lease on a straight line basis.

New Financial Reporting Standards

During the year the following financiat reporting standards (FRS) became effective for the Group's financial statements;

FRS10 — Goodwill and intangible assets

FRS11 — Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill

FRS12 — Provisions, contingent liahilities and contingent assets

FRS13 — Derivatives and cther financial instruments: disclosures

FRS14 — Earnings per share

The accounting standards to the extent applicable have been reflected in these financial statemeats. There has been no impact on the financial
statements as a result of FRS11 and 12,

Pensions and other post retirement benefits

The UK Graup undertakings participate in a defined benefit pensicn scheme. The fund is valued every three years by a professionally qualified
independent actuary, the rates of contribution payable being determined by the actuary. In the intervening years the actoary reviews the continuing
appropriateness of the rates, Penston costs are accounted for on the basis of charging the expected cest of providing pensions over the period
during which the company benefits from the employees' services. The effects of variations from regutar cost are spread over the expected average
remaining service lives of members of the scheme, The cost of providing other post-retirement benedits is recognised on a basis similar to that
adopted for peasions.

Research and development
Alf research and development costs are written off in the year in which they are incurred.

Stocks

Stocks and work in progress are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In the case of manufactured products, cost includes all direct
expenditure and production overheads based on a normal level of activity. Where necessary, provision is made for obsolete, slow moving and
defective stocks.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or valuation less ameunts provided for depreciation. No depreciation is provided on freehold land where its
value can be separately ascerfained. In all other cases freehold properties are depreciated on a straight line methad at 2% per annum. Leasehoid
properties are amortised by equat annual instalments over 50 years or the life of the leasg, if shorter. Plant and machinery are depreciated on the
straight line method at rates varying between 6% and 50% per annum,

Turnover

Turnover, which excludes value added tax, sales between Group companies and trade discounts, represents the invoiced value of goods and
services supplied.
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1. Parent Company

Avon Rubber p.l.c. 39

As permitted by S230 of the Companies Act 1985, the parent company's profit and foss account has not been included in these financial statements.
The parent company's profit for the financial year was £3,273,000 {1598: £20,766,000}.

2. Segmental Information

{a) External sales by destination:

1999
Gontinuing
activities  Acquisitions Total
£'0068 £'000 £'oog
United Kingdom 51,295 ise 51,655
Other European 69,114 4,662 13,176
North America 133,926 - 133,926
Rest of World 6,807 - 6,807
261,142 5,022 266,164
1998
Continuing
activities  Acquisitions Total
£300 £'000 £'000
United Kingdom 63,025 - 63,025
Other European 68,020 - 68,020
North America 129,963 - 129,963
Rest of Worid 6,077 - 6,077
267,085 - 267,085
(b) By origin: 1999 1998
Dperating Operating
External Operating net External Operating net
sales profit assets sales profit assets
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Continuing activities
United Kingdom 90,621 3,296 34,220 103,759 5478 29,738
Other European 36,363 3,284 15,839 36,291 2,435 13476
North America 134,158 14,839 48,114 127,035 14,438 42,795
261,142 41 118,173 267,085 22,351 86,009
Acquisitions
United Kingdem - - - - - -
Other European 5,022 459 21,560 - - -
North America - - - - - -
5,022 459 21,560 - - ~
Total 266,164 21,880 139,733 267,085 22,351 86,009

Inter segmental sales are not material,
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2. Segmental Information continued

(c) By business secter: 1989 1998
Dperating Operating
External Dperating net External Operating net
sales profit assets sales profit assels
£000 2000 £'000 gong £000 £000
Continuing activities
Automotive Components 182,793 12,739 59,388 196,097 15,740 62,433
Technical Products 78,349 8,682 48,785 70,988 6,611 23,576
261,142 21,421 118,173 267,085 22351 86,009
Acquisitions
Automotive Components 5022 459 21,560 - - -
Technical Praducts - - - - - -
5,022 459 21,560 - - -
Tofal 266,164 21,880 139,733 267,085 22,351 86,009
Inter segmentat sales are not material.
{d) Reconciliation of operating net asset analysis
1959 1998
£060 £1006
Consolidated balance shest 91,885 82,831
Borrowings 63,702 45,745
Interest bearing bank deposits (15,854} (42,557
Operating net assets 139,733 86,009
(e) Employees
The number of employees during the year was:
1999 1998
Year end Average Year end Average
Automotive Components 3,969 3,634 3,580
Technicai Products 1,448 1,513 1,458
Total 5417 5,147 5038
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3. Cost of sales and other operating income and expenses

1989
Continuing

activities  Acquisitions Total

£'000 £000 £000

Turnover 261,142 5,622 266,164
Cost of sales (209,967) (4,045) (214,012)
Grass profit 51,175 LI 52,152
Distribution costs {6,188) (217) {6,405)
Administrative expenses {24,591} {185) {24,778}
Goodwill amortisation - (163} {163)
Other cperating income 1,015 47 1,126
Net operating expenses {29,700) (518) (30,218)
Share of losses of joint ventures and associates (54) - (54}
Operating profit 21421 459 21,880

1998
Continuing

aclivities  Acquisitians Total

£000 £000 £000

Turnover 267,085 - 267,085
Cost of sales (216,174) - (216,174}
Gross profit 50,911 - 50,911
Distribution costs (5,134) - {5,134)
Administrative expenses (24,348) - (24,348)
Other operating income 296 - 896
Net operating eXpenses (28,586) - (28,586)
Share of profits of joint venfures and associates 26 - 26

Operating profit 22,351 - 22,351
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4. Joint ventures and associates

1992 1998
£000 £000
Share of operating loss in joint venture {88) (1067)
Share of operating profit in associate 34 133
{54} 26
The Group's share of the turnever of the joint venture was £17,000 (1998: £19,000).
Held by Basis of
Share Capital the Group Accounting Date Consolidation
Joint Venture:
Gold Seal-Avon Polymers PYT 4,403,596 shares 50% 31 March Audited accounts
India of 10 rupees each te 31 March 1999
Unaudited accounts
to 2 October 1999
Associate:
Amas-Avon Industries 2,000 shares of 49% 31 December Audited accounts for 1998
USA nil par value Unaudited accounts
to 2 October 1999

5. Exceptional items

The exceptional gain arose from insurance proceeds received for the refurbishment of plant and machinery that could nat be replaced. The expenditure
on the major refurkishment has been capitalised and the proceeds taken as an effective gain on disposal. The gain of £1,422,000 is before taking
account of the related tax charge of £498,000.

The exceptional items i 1998, refer to a gain of £993,000 relating to the sale of property, previously written down to zerg, and a joss of £275,000
resulting from the Group’s disposal of a 10% holding in Avon Marine Limited.

6. Net interest receivable/(payable) and similar charges

1599 1998

£'000 £000

Bank foans and overdrafts (2,276) {2,036)
US Dallar private placement (2,347 (448)
Other loans (306} (321
Finance leases (118} {165)
(5,047} {2,976)

Share of interest cost in joint venture (64} (38)
Less interest capitalised 578 -
Total interest payable {4,530 (3,014
Interest receivable 3,136 3,850

(1,396) 836
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7. Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

1989 1998
£'000 £000
Profit an ordinary activities before taxation is stated after crediting:
Rent receivable 1 9
Gain/{loss} an foreign exchange 40 {7t
and after charging:
Depreciation for the year en tangible fived assets:
owned assets 8,901 8,006
leased assets 833 865
Amortisation of goodwill 163 -
Auditors” remuneration for:
Audit (Company £50,000; 1998 £40,000) 293 250
Gther services fo UK members of the Group including taxation 165 438
Research and devetopment 4,645 4610
Operating lpases:
plant and machinery 2,082 1,852
ather assets 1,617 1,305
8. Taxation
1893 1998
£000 £000
The taxation charge, based on the resuits for the year, comprises:
Tax charge on operating activities:
United Kingdom corporation tax at 30.5% (1998: 31%) 546 1,981
Overseas taxes 363 5077
Joint venture - -
Associated company 14 51
4,211 7,108
Deferred taxation 2,048 (106)
6,257 7,003

The relatively low corporation tax charge largely arises as a result of lawer taxation on overseas profit. These lower taxation charges on overseas profits

are largely due to capital allowances arising on capital expenditure.




_
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8. Taxatlon Centinued

An analysis of provided and unprovided deferred tax at 30% (1998: 315) is shown helow:
Amound provided Amount unprovided

1989 1998 1999 1998

£'000 £000 £ £'000
Capital atlowances {2,162) (89) {4,845) (5,493}
Persion deferral - - (M8 -
Post retirement healthcare 41 834 - -
GOther timing differences 4N (18) 2,876 1,326
Losses - - (217) 159
Asset/{potential liability) (1,268) 727 (2,934) (4,008)

In addition to the above there are losses of £233,000 (1998: £522,000) (in terms of tax) available for carry forward.

. No provision has been made for taxation liabilities which would arise on the distribution of profits returned by overseas subsidiaries because there js no
intention that such profits will be remitted in the foreseeable future.

9. Dividends

1999 1998
£000 £'000
Dividends on equity shares:
Ordinary — Interim paid of 7.0p per share {1598: 6.6p per share) 1,936 1,815
Ordinary — Final proposed of 17.2p per share (1998: 16.2p per share) 4,762 4458
6,698 6,273
Dividends on non-equity shares:
Preference 7% paid (1996: 4.9%) 35 25
6,733 6,298

10. Earnings per share

Financial Reposting Standard No. 14 (FRS14) "Eamings Per Share" has been adopted and consequently basic and diluted eamings per share have been
. calculated in accordance with the requirements of the Standard. Comparative basic and diluted earings per share for the year ended 3 October 1998

have been recalcufated on the same basis,

Basic earnings per share amount to 56.8p (1998: 62.4p) and are based on profit after taxation, and deduction of minority interests, and non-equity

dividends, of £15,747,000 (1998: £17,131,000) and 27,721,000 ordinary shares {1998: 27,454,000} being the weighted average of the shares in issue

during the year.

Eamings per share before exceptional items amount to 53.5p (1998: 59.8p) and are based on profit after taxation, and deduction of minority interests,

and non-equity dividends, of £14,823,000 (1998: £16,413,000.}

Diluted eamings per share amount to 56.7p (1998: 61.7p) and are based on profit after taxation, and deduction of minority interests, and non-equity

dividends, of £15,747,000 (1998: £17,131,000) and 27,795,000 ordinary shares {[998: 27,750,000} being the diluted weighted average number of shares

in issue during the year.
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10. Earnings per share conine

The difference between the weighted average number of shares in issue and the diluted weighted average number of shares in issue relates to
unexcercised share options details of which are shown on pages 28 and 29.

Adjusted earnings per share figures have been calculated in addition to basic and diluted figures since, in the opinian of the directors, this gives a
betier understanding of the Group's performance. A recenciliation of the different earnings per share is shown bafow.

1999 1598
Basic eamnings per share 56.8p 62.4p
Adjustment for exceptional items (3.3p) (2.6p)
Earnings per share before exceptional items 53.5p 59.8p

11. Pensions and other retirement benefits

Pensions

The Group aperates a contributory defined benefits plan to provide pension and death benefits for the employees of Avan Rubber p.l.c. and its Groug
undertakings in the UK. The assets of the plan are held in separate trustee administered funds and are invested by professional investment managers.
The trustee is Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited, the directors of which are members of the plan. Four of the directors are appointed by the company
and two are elected by the members.

Pension costs are assessed on the advice of an independent consulting actuary using the projected unit method. The funding of the plan is based on
regular actuarial valuations. The mast recent actuarial valuation of the plan was carried out as at 31 March 1997 when the market value of the plan's
assets was £236.2 million. The actuarial value of those assets represented 106% of the value of the benefits which had accrued to members, after
allowing for future increases in salaries.

Pension cost for the year ended 2 October 1999 is based on the actuarial valration as at 31 March 1997 which took into consideration the changes
announced in the March 1997 budget. The principal actuarial assumptions used are that the annual rate of return on investments would be 2.5%
{1998: 2.5%) higher than the annual increase in pensionable remuneration and 4% {1998: 4%) higher than the annual increase in present and future
pensions in payment. The pension cost to the Group in the year ended 2 Octeber 1999 in respect of UK employees was £1,269,000 (1998: £1,152,060).
At 2 October 1999, the pension prepayment held in the Group balance sheet is £3,005,000 (1998: £1,951,000).

For employees overseas, pension arrangements are principally defined contribution plans. The cost to the Group in the year ended 2 Octeber 1999 in
respect of overseas employees was £2,115,000 (1998: £2,015,000).

Other post retirement benefits

Cadillac Rubber and Plastics inc. operates a medical cover scheme under the terms of which retiring empfoyees who have fen years service and their
dependants are entitled to medical cover from the date of their retirement for a period of three years, or until they reach the age of 63, whichever is
the earlier. The amount charged ta the Group profit and loss account in the year ended 2 October 1999 is £82,000 (1998: £125,000), and the accrued
liability of £2,691,000 {1998: £2,537,000} is included in provisions for liabilities and charges (see nofe 25).

12. Directors and employees

Detailed disclosures of directors’ remuneration and share options are given on pages 27 to 29. During the year one director (1598: two} exercised options
granted under the Savings Related Share Option scheme. The aggregate of the gains made on the exercise of these options, calculated on the difference
between the option price and the mid-market price at the date of exercise, was £14,000 (1998: £32,000} all of which (1998: £23,000) related to the
gains attributakle to the highest paid director.

1999 1958
£2000 £000

Staff costs during the year were:
Wages and salaries 79,396 76,744
Social security costs 8,221 8,052
Other pension costs 3,675 3,505

91,298 88,301
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13. Intangible fixed assets — Group

et book
Cost  Amonisation yalue
£'000 £'000 £000

Goodwill
At 4 October 1998 - - -
Acquisitions during the year 13,152 - 13,152
Amortisation - (163 {183)
Exchange differences (202) 1 {201)
Net beok value at 2 October 1999 12,950 {162) 12,788

The goodwill arising on the acquisitions af Industrial Flexo S.A. and Proflex S.A. during the year is being amortised on a straight-line basis over 20 years.
This period is the period over which the directors estimate the value of the business acquired is expected {o exceed the value of the underfying assets.
The cumulative goodwill resulting from acquisitions, which has been written off to reserves at 2 October 1999, is £79,204,000 {1998 £79,204,000.

14. Tangible fixed assets — Group

Assets in
Long Short Piant and course of
Freeholds leasehold leasehold machinery  construction Total
£000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £:000

Cost or valuation:

At 4 October 1998 14,175 1,465 130 110,566 1,690 128,026

Exchange differences {17 17 1 {391) - {390)

Acquisitions 2,384 - - 4 877 - 7,261

Additions at cost 1,449 2 3 15,945 20,500 37,924

Disposais (811) {199 (1} (3,162) - {4,173)

At 2 October 1999 17,180 1,310 133 127,835 22,190 168,648

At Cost 6,910 510 133 121,835 22,190 157,578

At Valuation 10,270 800 - - - 11,070

17,180 1,310 133 127,835 22,190 168,648

Depreciation:

At 4 Qctober 1998 1,415 119 75 59,009 - 60,618

Exchange differences (36) 1 2 (603) - {636)

Reclassifications 85 - - (85) - -

For the year 624 71 6 9,033 - 9,734

On disposals (544) 61} {1 (2,564) - (3,170)

At 2 October 1999 1,544 130 82 64,790 - 66,546
Net book valve at 2 Dctober 1999 15,636 1,180 51 63,045 22,190 102,102
Net book value at 3 October 1998 13,461 1,346 95 52,546 - 67,408
Net hook value includes the following leased assets:

At 2 October 1999 - 1,180 17} 2,502 - 3733

At 3 October 1998 - 1,346 55 2,974 - 4,380
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14. Tangible fixed assets — Group continued

Additions at cost include £579,000 {1998: nil} of interest costs capitalised {see note 6).

Group properties were valued independently as at 28 September 1996 on the basis of existing use value or open marhet value as deemed appropriate.
These valuations were undertaken in the United Kingdom by Knight Frank and overseas by DTZ Debenham Thorpe, both firms of independent Chartered

Surveyars. If 1and and buildings had not been revalued, they would have been included in the financial statements at the following amounts:

Long Short
Freeholds feasehofds [easeholds
£000 £000 £000
Cost 18,967 837 133
Depreciation 4,963 248 82
Net book value at 2 October 1998 14,004 589 51
Net book value at 3 October 1998 11,817 755 55
15. Tangible fixed assets — Parent
Assets in
Long Plant and course of
Freehplds leaseholds machinery  construction Total
£1000 £000 £000 £:000 £'000
Cast or valuation:
At 4 Dctober 1998 1,297 800 1,710 - 3,807
Additions at cost - - 133 261 394
Transfers from Group companies - - 882 18,957 19,839
Disposals (455} - (275} - (7301
At 2 October 1999 842 800 2,450 19,218 23,310
At Cost - - 2450 19,218 21,668
At Valuation 842 800 - - 1,642
842 800 2450 19,218 23,310
Depreciation:
At 4 October 1998 433 48 1,230 - 1,711
For the year 31 24 225 - 280
Transfers from Group companies - - 116 - 116
On disposals (227) - (244) - (471)
At 2 October 1999 237 12 1,327 - 1,636
Net book value at 2 October 1999 605 128 1,123 19,218 21,674
Net book value at 3 October 1998 864 752 480 - 2,096
Net book value includes the following leased assets:
At 2 October 1999 - 728 - - 128
At 3 October 1998 - 752 - ~ 752




48 Avon Rubber p.l.c.

Notes to the Financial Statements com

for the year ended 2 October 1999

15. Tangible fixed assets — Parent coninued

Groyp properties were valued independently as at 28 September 1996 on the basis of exisfing use value or open market vafue as deemed
appropriate. These valuations were undertaken in the United Kingdom by Knight Frank and overseas by DTZ Debenham Thorpe, both firms of
independent chartered surveyors.

If land and buildings had not been revalued, they would have been included in the financial statements at the following amounts:

Long
Frecholds leaseholds
£060 f'ooe
Cost 139 n
Depreciation 65 118
Net book value at 2 Octaber 1999 674 149
Net book value at 3 October 1998 Lral 161
16. Fixed asset investments — Group
1999 1998
£000 £000
Investments in joint ventures;
shares of joint assets N3 124
shares of jaint liabilities {695) (558)
Investments in associates 580 543
Other investments 302 292
300 1,001
Other
investments
Joint Assnciated other than
venture company loans Total
£000 £000 £'000 £'100
Unlisted shares at cost, less amount written off:
At 4 October 1998 384 158 292 834
Exchange differences - 5 10 15
at 2 Dctoher 1999 384 163 302 843
Group share of profits less losses:
At 4 October 1998 (218} 385 - 167
Exchange differences 4 12 - 16
For the year (152} 20 - {132)
at 2 October 1999 (366) a1 - 51
Net book value at 2 October 1999 18 580 302 900
Net hook value at 3 October 1998 166 543 292 1,601
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17. Fixed asset investments — Parent

Unlisted
shares at cost Loan
less amaunts to Group
written off  Undertaking Total
£'000 £'000 £000
At 4 October 1998 82,585 11,710 94,295
Repayment of loan - {4,389) (4,389}
Exchange Rate movement - 531 531
Net book value at 2 October 1999 82,585 1,852 90,437

The company and Group had a $13 million US currency swap (1998: US$20 million) outstanding at the year end, maturing in more than one year, in order

to hedge the loan to the Group undertaking.
Alist of Group undertakings appears on page 60.

18. Other financial commitments

Group Parent
1999 1998 1999 1998
£'000 £000 £000 £000
Capital expenditure committed 4,586 8,959 - -
Capital expenditure committed represents the amount contracted at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made in the
financial statements,
The annual commitments of the Group for non-cancelfable aperating leases are:
1999 1998
Land and Other Land and Other
beildings assels tuildings assets
£000 £'000 £000 £000
For leases expiring:
Within § year - 167 - 140
In 2-5 years 682 475 661 431
Over 5 years 503 23 430 120
1,185 615 1,091 691
The majority of leases of land and buildings are subject to rent reviews,
The parent company has annual commitments for non-cancellable cperating leases on land and buildings expiring in over 5 years of £68,000
(1998: £68,000).
19. Stocks
Eroup
1899 1998
£'000 £'400
Raw materials 7,999 1,243
Worl in progress E,483 5,497
Finished goods 9,032 8,704
24,014 21,444
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Group Parent
1999 1993 1999 1998
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade dehtors 45,113 41,939 143 174
Group undertakings - - 1,544 4,515
Undestakings in which the Group has a participating interest 192 38 146 -
Deferred tax - - - -
Advance corporation tax recoverable 1,700 888 - 888
Corporation tax 2,050 828 1,507 14
Other debtors 71,698 4,256 758 1,543
Prepayments 826 553 17 17
57,579 48,502 10,115 7,151
Amounts falling dve after more than one year:
Deferred tax a1 834 - -
Advance corporation tax recoverable - 1,115 - 1,115
Other debtors 1,826 1,519 - -
Pension fund prepayment 3,008 1,951 206 105
5772 5419 206 1,220
63,351 53,921 10,321 8,371
21. Current asset investments
Current asset investments refate to short term bank deposits maturing in less thar one year.
22. Creditors — amounts falling due within one year
Group Parent
1409 1998 1999 1998
£000 £000 £'000 £'000
Current instalments due or loans 6,828 103 985 -
Bank overdrafts 2,401 2,366 - -
fFinance leases 639 666 - -
Total borrowings falling due within 1 year 9918 3,135 985 -
Trade creditors 21418 24,001 146 478
Group undertakings - - 38,597 22,763
Bills of exchange 1,521 2,052 - -
Advance corporation tax payable - 1,115 - 1,115
Corporation tax 5,001 2,147 452 -
Deferred tax - 17 - -
Other taxation and social security 3,394 3,176 81 a7
Gther creditars 5,051 2,941 27 151
Accruals 10,092 12,347 410 1,211
Proposed dividend on ordinary shares 4,762 4 458 4,762 4,458
67,215 55,380 45666 30,261
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23. Creditors — amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Parent

1993 1998 199% 1598

£900 £000 £'000 £'000
Bank loans {secured £127,000 1998. £310,000) 17,125 6,631 - 1,067
US Doilar private piacement 35,754 34,609 - -
Finance Jeases up to 5 years 901 1,349 - -
Finance leases aver 5 years 4 21 - -
Total borrowings falling due after more than one year 53,784 42,610 - 1,067
Other creditors 1,331 865 - -
Deferred tax - 89 - -

55,115 43,564 1,087

Bank loans and overdrafts are denominated in a number of currencies and bear interest based on either bank base rates or national LIBOR equivalents.
Bank loans secured are by way of fixed charges over land and buildings.

The US dollar denominated private placement loan of $60 million (1998: $60 million) is stated net of unamortised issue costs of £487,000
(1998: £522,000)
Included within bank loans and the US dollar private placements are amounts payable after mare than five years (see note 24).

24, Financial instruments

Treasury Policy

Details of the rale that financial instruments have had during the peried in creating or changing the risks the Group faces in its activities are discussed
in the financial review on page 17. The financial review alsc discusses the objectives and poficies for holding or issuing financial instruments and the
strategies for achieving those objectives.

Short term debtors and creditors
Short term debtors and creditors have heen excluded from the following disclosures, other than the currency risk disclosures.

Interest rate risk of financial assets

1999 1998
Cash at bank Cash at bank

and in hand Investments Total and in hand Investments Total

Gurrency £'00n £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Sterling 9,644 - 9,644 1,056 36,800 37,856
US dollars 6,082 302 6,384 4,569 292 4,868
EU currencies (other than sterling) 1,139 - 1,138 503 - 503
Other currencies m - amn 345 - 345
17,336 302 17,638 6473 37,092 43,565

Cash at bank and in hand balances are denominated in a number of currencies and eamn interest based on naticnal base rates.

Sterling investments at 3 Octcber 1998 consist of £36,800,000 of shert term bank deposits maturing in less than ore year. The US dollar investment
relates to a 10% equity holding in Longbore Inc. of $500,000 (1998: $500,000).

The level of cash balances held reflect the development plans that exist for the medium term. In particular, certain development costs, in respect of the
Melksham site, will be met from these balances. In addition, the Group's horrowings reflect langer term commitments and the Group's principal policy of
“borrowing long to invest long”. As a result, cash balances are held to take account of short-term cashflow fluctuations and also to provide finance for
smail short-term investment opportunities.
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24. Financial instruments consnued

Interest rate risk of financial liabilities

1989 1998

Floating Fixed Floating Fixed

rate rate rafe rate

financial financial financial financial
liabilities liabilities Total liabilities liabilities Total
Currency £'000 £000 £'aon £000 £'00G £°000

Sterling

Financial liabilities - 1,229 1,229 47 2,036 2,083
Preference shares - 500 500 - 500 500
US dollars 2,408 35812 38,211 2,394 34,609 37,003
EU currencies {other than sterling} 23,208 365 23,5713 5940 - 5,940
Other currencies B79 - 679 719 - 719
26,295 37,906 64,202 9,100 37,145 46,245

Fleating rate financial fiahilities comprise hank averdrafts and loans, which bear interest at rates related to either bank base rates or national LIBOR
equivalents and, which are fixed in advance for periods of between cne and six months,

Fixed rate financial liabilities comprise finance leases, preference shares, and a dollar denominated loan of $60 million which provides a hedge against

the Greup’s investment in dollar denominated net assets.

Fixed rate financial liahilities

1888 1998

Weighted Weighted
average average
Weighted period for Weighted period for
Currency average which rate average which rate
interest rate is fixed interest rate is fixed
% Years % Years

Steriing
Finance liabilities 12 25 7.2 35
Preference shares 10 - 49 -
US dollar 6.7 819 6.7 9.9
EU currencies {other than sterling) 47 6.9 - -

Maturity of financial liabilities

The maturity profile of the group's financial liabilities, other than short-term creditors such as trade creditors and accruals

was as follows:

, at the end of the year

1999 1998
Bank Bank
overdrafls Finance Preference overdrails Finance Preference
and loans leases shares Total and loans leasas shares Tetal
£'800 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000
In 1 year or less,
or on demand 8229 689 - 84918 2469 666 - 3,135
Between 1 and 2 years 2,259 422 - 2,681 1,132 731 - 1,863
Between 2 and 5 years 13,7119 419 - 14,198 5,499 518 - 6,137
Qver 5 years 36,901 4 500 37,405 34,609 21 500 35,130
62,108 1,594 500 64,202 43,709 2,036 500 46,245

The cumulative preference shares have a fixed cumulative dividend of 7.0% and are not redeemable.
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24. Financial instruments condnued

Borrowing facilities

The Group has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities which have heen arranged to meet its expected medium term requirements:

1999 1998

Total Total
Actual committed Undrawn Actual committed Undrawn
borrowings facilities facilities borrowings facilities facilities
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
Expiring within 1 year 9,229 27,407 18,178 2,469 19,302 16,833
Between 1 and 2 years 2,259 2,259 - 1,132 5,126 3,994
Between 2 and 5 years 13,7119 33,972 20,253 5,459 23,064 17,565
Qver 5 years 36,9M 36,901 - 34,609 34,609 -
62,108 100,539 38431 43,709 82,101 38,397

The undrawn facilities are available at floating rates of interest. These facilities are subject to formal agreement with the providers of finance. The
majority of the facitities which expire in more than one year are subject to annual review in line with normal banking procedures.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The following table provides a comparisen by category of the carrying amounts and the fair vafues of the Group's financial assets and liabilities. Fair
value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm's length transaction between informed and willing parties, and
excludes accrued interest. Where availabte, market values have been used to determine fair values. Whare market vatues are not available, fair values
have been calculated by discounting expected cash flows at prevailing interest and exchange rates. Set out on the next page is a summary of the

methods and assumptions used for each category of financial instrument.

1999 1998
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£on0 E'nog £000 £'000

Primary financial instruments held or issued 1o finance the group’s operations:
Bank loans and overdrafts under 1 year 9,229 9,229 2,469 2,469
US dollar denominated loan 36,241 33,136 35,131 34,609
Bank loans over 1 year 17,125 17,125 6,631 6,631
Finance leases 1,594 1,594 2,036 2,036
Preference shares 500 485 500 495
Cash at bank and in hand 11,336 17,336 6,473 6,473
Derivative financial insfruments held fo manage the interest rate and currency profile
Currency swap - 298 - 829
Forward foreign currency contracts n n 5
Derivative financial instruments held or issued to hedge the
currency exposure on expected fulure sales:
Forward foreign cursancy contracts - 97 - 2%

The hook value of the US dollar denaminated foan is shown in the above table gross of upamaortised issve costs of £487,000 (1998 £522,000)
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24. Financial instruments contined

Summary of methods and assumptions
Currency swap

US dollar dereminated loan and forward foreign currency contracts

Bank lpans

Finance leases

The fair value reflects the net amount receivable at
year end exchange rates.

Fair value is based on the market value of comparable
instruments at the balance sheet date.

The fair value of bank loans approximates to their book
values as these are flcating rate facilities on which
interest rates are resef to market rates typically on a one
te six months basis.

The fair values of finance leases approximates to their
book values as the interest rates inherent in these
agreements are similar to the interest rates available on
replacement facilities.

A fair value has not been disclosed for the Group’s investments in Lengbore Inc. on the grounds that an estimated fair value cannot be determined with
sufficient reliability because this is an enquoted investment. This investment rapresents a 10% equity holding carried at cost $500,000 (1998 $500.000).

Currency exposures

The carrying value of monetary assets and liabilities held by operating units in currencies other than their functional currency, which are not covered by

forward exchange contracts, is not material,

Hedges

In order to protect against the fluctuations in foreign curencies, borsowings are taken out in the functional currency of the subsidiary companies. The

currency exposure as at 2 Qctober 1999 in respect of overseas investments was as follows:

Remaining

Functional functional

Operating  Unamortised currency currency

assels goodwill horrowings exposure

Currency £'000 £:000 £000 £000
US dollar 45678 — 38,221 1,457
EU currencies (excluding sterling) 19,210 12,788 22,588 9410
QOther currencies 4,826 - 679 4,147
69,714 12,788 6l,488 21014

The exposure to the US investment has been partially offset by a $13 million US currency swap, which provides a hedge against the exposures to foreign
currency movements. Any gains or losses arising (£298,000 in 1999) have been offset against the gains or losses arising on the retranslation of the net

investments in US dollars.

At the end of the year, the Group kad a FF10,000,000 loan, taken out as a hedge against its investments in France, any currency gains or losses resulting
from this loan are taken to the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Lesses and offset against gains or losses on retranstation of the net investments

in the French subsidiaries.

The unrecognised gains on forward foreign currency contracts at 3 October 1998 amounted to £29,000 which was recognised in the profit and loss
account for the year ended 2 October 1999, The unrecognised gains on forward foreign currency contracts at 2 October 1999 amaunt to £97,000 which
is expacted to be recognised in the profit and loss account for the year ended 30 September 2000.
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25. Provision for liabilities and charges — Group

Post *
Deferred retirement

tax benefits Other Total

£000 £000 £'000 £000

Balance at 4 Qctober 1998 - 2,537 2,726 5,263
Charged/(credited) to profit and loss account 2,209 82 {767 1,524
Payments in the year - - (583} (583}
Exchange differences - 12 - 72
Balance at 2 October 1999 2,209 2,691 1,376 6,276

The Group sold its interest in Avon Tyres to Coaper Tires during the year ended 27 September 1997. As part of the agreement for the sale, the Group has

to reocate its Technical Products and Automotive Components businesses currently based on the Cooper-Avon site in Melksham. As the Group is

committed to the relocation as part of the sale agreement, provision has been made for the losses that will arise on the relocation. These are included

as other provisions.
*Seenote 11

26. Contingent liabilities

Eroup Parent
1999 1598 1999 1998
£000 £'000 £000 £000
Guarantees of overdraft facilities and loans of Group undertakings - - 59,409 44,060
Other guarantees 477 573 - -
427 573 59,409 44,060
The company and certain subsidiaries have unconditionally guaranteed the liabilities of Avon Rubber & Plastics Inc in respect of its US$60,000,000
private debt placement and Avon Rubber Espana S.L. in respect of its 23 miltion Euro loan.
The bank has the right to set off the bank account of the Parent and the UK subsidiaries.
Other guarantees are bank guarantees issued to cover normal trading requirements,
27. Share capital
1948 1998
£'000 £000
Authorised:
37,900,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 37,900 37,900
500,000 7.0% cumulative preference shares of £1 gach 500 500
38,400 18,400
Galled up, allotted and fuily paid:
27,824,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 27,824 27,718
500,000 7.0% cumulative preference shares of £1 each 500 500
28,324 28,218
1999 1998
During the year the fotlowing ordinary shares were issued pursuant to the:
Executive Share Option scheme 15,000 -
Savings Related Share Option schemes - 45528
Qualifying Employee Share Qwnership Trust 90,486 238,559
105,486 284,087
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27. Share capital coninued

Shares issued under the Executive Share Dption scheme were satisfied by a total cash consideration of £77,000. A further 90,486 ordinary shares have
been #ssued to a Qualifying Employee Share Qwnership Trust (QUEST) which have been funded by contributions from employees totalling £457,000,

At 2 October 1999, QUEST held 137,044 ordinary shares in the company at a market value of £5.10 per share, all of which were under option to employees.
Dividends on the shares held by QUEST have been waived.

The cumulative preference shares have a fixed cumulative dividend of 7.0% and are not redeemable. In the event of a winding up of the company they
rank ahead of the ordinary shares and will be entitled to the amounts paid up thereon, any arrears of dividend and a premium equivalent to the ditference
hetween the nominal ameunt of capital paid up on such shares and the average quoted price for such shares for the preceding six months (net of any
dividend arrears). Except under certain circumstances the shares carry no right to vote at general meetings. The title of these shares has been changed
from 4.9% cumulative preference shares following the abaiition of ACT.

Details of outstanding share options are given on pages 28 and 29.

28. Share premium account and reserves — Group

Share
premium  Revaluation Profit and
account reserve loss account
£000 £800 £000
At 4 October 1998 33,642 2,735 15810
Transfer from revaluation reserve to profit and loss - {12) 12
Premium on shares issued during the year 428 - -

Unrealised exchange differences

on overseas investments - - (445)
on related borrowings - - 14
Current year retained profit - - 5,049
at 2 October 1999 3070 211 24,440
Avon Rubber p.l.c. and subsidiaries 34,070 2123 24,389
Joint ventures and associated companies - - 51

34,070 2713 24,440

29. Share premium account and reserves — Parent

Share
premium Merger  Revaluation Profit and
account reserve reserve loss account
£000 £000 £000 £1000
At 4 October 1598 33,642 16,435 733 33,236
Transfer from revaluation reserve to profit and less - - 24) 24
Premium on shares issued during the year 428 - - -
Unrealised exchange differences - - - 14
Current year loss - - - (3,460)

at 2 Detoher 1999 34,070 16,439 708 29,814
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30. Acquisitions

On 30 June 1999 the Group acquired two Spanish companies; Industrial Flexo S.A. and Proflex S.A. The total cost of the acquisition was £17,681,000,
including £850,000 of acquisition expenses. The fair value of the net assets acquired totatled £4,529,000 giving rise to goodwiil of £13,152,000.
These acquisitions have been accounted for using acquisition accounting.

A summary of the fair values of the assets acquired is given below:

Fair value

Net assets Fairvalue  of net assets

acquired adjustment acquired

£000 £'000 £000

Tangible fixed assets 6,034 1,227 1,261
Stocks 1,416 - 1,416
Debtors 6,509 57 6,566
Creditars (6,671) {(980) (7,651)
Borrowings (2,796) (267) {3,063)
4,492 37 4,529

Goodwill 13,152 - 13,152
Total Cost 11,644 37 11,681
Deferred consideration {297
Cash paid 17,384

The fair value adjustments made are:
Alignment of
accounting

policies Other Total

£000 £'600 £000

Write off of research and development costs (38 - (30
Change in depreciation policy 477 - 477
Reclassifying operating lease obligations as finance leases 230 - 230
Tax provision - (250} 250
Provision far onerous contract - (350) (3507
Others - (39) {39)
676 (639) kY

The summarised aggregate profit and Joss account of Industrial Flexo S.A. and Proflex S.A. for the period from 1 January 1999, the beginning of the subsidian's
year, to the date of acquisition was as follows:

& month

period ended

30 June 1999

£000

Tuarnover 11,094
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 555
Tax en ordinary activities {173)
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 382

The company had no recognised gains or losses other than the profit on ordinary activities after taxation shawn above. The prefit or ordinary activities
after tax for the year ended 31 December 1998 was £1,270,000.

The above acquisition contributed £127,000 to the Group's net operating cash flows, paid £107,000 in respect of taxation, £287,000 in respect of capital
expenditure, and £142,000 in respect of returns on investments and servicing of finance.

The figure shown on the cash flow statement of £18,351,000 in respect of purchase of subsidiary undertakings includes £367,000 of deferred consideration
relating to acquisitions reported in the 1998 accounts.
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31. Net cash flow from operating activities

1993 1398

£000 £000
Operating profit 21,880 22,351
Goodwill amortisation 163 -
Amortisation of loan issue costs 50 -
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 9,734 8,871
(Profit)/ioss on sale of tangible fixed assets (707 49
{Increase)/decrease in stocks (1,154) 792
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (784) 536
(Decrease)/increase in creditors (4,7118) 2,758
Increase in pension prepayment (1,054) {1,409)
Share of cperating losses/{profits) of joint ventures and associates 54 (26)
Decrease in provisions (1,195) (894)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (43) 61
Net cash flow from operating activities 22,226 33,093

32. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds/(net debt)

1999 1998

£'000 £060
Increase/(decrease) in cash 10,602 (10,810
Movements in loans and finance leases (13,760} (26,935)
Movement in liquid resources {36,800} 1,800
Amortisation of loan costs {50) -
Loans and finance leases acquired from acquisitions (3,457) -
Exchange differences (429) 993
Movement in net debt in the period (43,894) {34,952
{Net debt)/net funds at the heginning of the year (2,412} 32,480
Net debt at the end of the year (46,366) (2470
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33. Analysis of net funds/(net debt)

At 4 Oct Cash Exchange At 3 Oct

1998 Reclassified flow movements  Acquisitions 1993

£000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000

Cash in bank and in hand 6,473 - 10,313 48 502 17,336
Overdrafts (2,366) - {105) 178 (108) (2,401)
Debt due after 1 year {41,240 5,895 (13,647 (605) {3,282) (52,879)
Debt due within 1 year {103) (5,895} (776) (54) - (6,828}
Finance leases (2,036) - 613 4 {175) (1,594)
Current asset investments (see Note 20) 36,800 - (36,800} - - -
(2,472} - (40,402 429 (3,063} {46,366)

34. Related party transactions

At the end of the year the Group had loans cutstanding due from Gold Seal-Avon Polymers PYT totalling £183,000 {1998: nil)
There were no other material related party transactions dusing the year.

35. Post balance sheet event

The company completed the sale of its subsidiary company, CQC Ltd (formerly known as CQC PLC) an 15 Octaber 1999 to a new company
Crossca (430) Ltd which was formed by three existing directors of CQC, Mr M Rernie, Managing Director, Mr P Gulliford, Marketing Director and
Mr A Greene, Finance Director.

Based in Barnstaple, Devon the Cempany manufactures a wide range of advanced textile based clething and personal protection equipment for armed
forces and, at the date of the dispasal, employed 157 people.

The consideration for the disposaf amounted to £1,600,000 in cash.
Additionally, and by a separate transaction, the Group also sold the freehold site from which CQC Ltd operates for a consideration of £1.0 million in cash.

The sale of the business and the property, which was regarded as non-core to the Group’s activities, did not result in ary significant gain or loss based
upen the carrying value in the accounts (including geodwill previously written off against reserves). During the year ended 2 October 1599, CQC Ltd
made a pre-tax profit of £0.6 million.
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N° 32965
Group Undertakings and
Participating Interests
at 2 October 1999
Gountry in
Group which
interest incorporated
Held by Parent Company
Avon Polymer Products Limited
Avon Rubber Overseas Limited
Aven Rubber Pension Trust Limited
Held by Group Undertakings
Avan Autemotive Deutschland GmbH Germany
Avon Caoutchouc S.A. France
Avon Hi-Life Inc. USA
Avon Injected Rubber and Plastics Inc. USA
Avon Milk-Rite Inc. USA
Avon Polyméres France S.A. France
Aven Rubber & Plastics Inc. USA
Avon Rubber Holland BV Netherlands
Avon Rubber Espana S.L. Spain
Avon Rubber Polimeros L.DA. Portugal
Avon Automotive a.s.* Czech Republic
Avon Spencer Moulton S.A. France
Avon Vibration Management Systems Limited
Avon Zatec LLC. USA
Avon-Ames Limited al%
Bell Avon Inc, 80% USA
Cadillac Rubber and Plastics Inc. USA
Cadillac Rukber and Plastics de Mexico SA de CV* Mexico
Cadimex SA de CY* Mexico
Cow Polymers Limited
Cac PLC
CT Rubber and Plastics Inc. 60% UsA
Industrial Fexo S.A. Spain
Nova Insurance Limited Guernsey
Pacer Tocl and Plastics Inc. UsA
Protlex S.A. Spain
Undertakings in which the Group has a participating interest
Ames-Avon Industries® 49% USA
Gold Seal-Avon Polymers PVTT 50% India
Longbore Ing. 10% USA

Shareholdings are ordinary shares and, except where shown, undertakings are wholly owned.
Except where otherwise shown, all companies are incorporated in England and Wales and operate primarily in their country of incorporation.

Except where indicated by * all companies have a year ending in September. Companies marked by * all have Dacember year ends, except
Gold Seai-Avon Polymers PVT which has a March year end.

Avon Rubber Pensicn Trust Limited, CQC PLC, Nova Insurance Limited and Longbore Inc. are, respectively, a pension fund trustee, a manufacturer of
specialised textile products, an insurer and a paliution remediation contractor. Avon Rubber Overseas Limited, Avon Caoutchouc SA, Avon Rubber
Holland BY and Avon Rubber & Plastics Inc. are investment holding comparies. The activities of all of the other companies listed above are the
manufacture and/or distributien of rubber and other polymer-hased products.

The 80% shown against Bell Avon Inc. represents the Group's interest in the share capital of that company. The Group's interest in the accemulated
reserves of Bell Avon Inc. is 50%.

A number of non-trading and small Group undertakings have been omitted on the grounds of immatertality.

tAmes-Avan Industries is an associated company and Gold Seal-Avon Polymers PYT a joint venture within the meaning of Financial Reporting
Standard Number 9.
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Shareholders

On 1 December 1939 the company had the following number of sharehclders:
%1 ordinary shares: 1,688
7.0% cumulative preference shares of £1 each: 43

Of the ordinary shareholders, 1,098 (65%) had holdings of 1,000 shares or less.

Financial Calendar

Interim figures announced in May and final results in December.

Preference dividend paid on 30 June and 31 December.

Interim ordinary dividend declared in May and paid in June.

Final ordinary dividend anneunced, together with the results for the year, in December and paid in January,
Annual General Meeting held in January.

In sespect of the year ended 2 October 1999, the Annual General Meeting will be held on 19 January 2000 and the final dividend on the £1 ordinary
shares will, if approved, be paid on 28 Jaruary 2000 te shareholders on the register on 6 January 2000,

Corporate Information

Registered Office Manvers House, Kingston Road, Bradford-on-Aven, Wiltshire, BALS 1AA England
Registered in England and Wales No. 32965

Company Secretary C.L. Martin
Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers

Registrars & Transfer Office  Northern Registrars Limited
Northern House
Woodsome Park
Fenay Bridge
Huddersfield HD8 GLA

Brokers Cazenove & Co
Solicitors Linklaters & Alliance

Principal Bankers Gemerica Inc.
HSBC Bank plc

Corporate Financial Advisors  Baring Brathers International Limited
Carporate web site www.avon-rubber.com

Share price information can be obtained on the Financial Times Cityline service by dialling 0336-431713.
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1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

£000 £000 £000 £'000 £q00
Turnover 266,164 267,085 200,648 347 471 306,467
Profit on trading 31,831 31,186 30,471 38,250 31,225
Share of {losses)/profits of joint venture and associated company (54) 26 80 184 255

31,1 31,222 30,551 38,434 31,480

Goodwill amortisation (163} - - - -
Depreciation (9,734) {8,871) (10,713) (13,330) {11,254)
Operating prefit before exceptional items 21,880 22,351 19,838 25,104 20,226
Reorganisation costs - - {4,000) - -
Profit on sale of fixed assets and investments 1,422 718 - - -
Profit/{loss} on sale of interest in sisbsidiary undertakings - - 11,047 - -
Profit before interest 23,302 23,069 26,885 25,104 20,226
interest (1,396) 836 (526) (3,595) (4,035
Profit before taxation 21,906 23,905 26,359 21,509 16,191
Taxation (6,257) (7,003} (7,064) (7,096) (5,230
Profit after taxation 15,649 16,902 19,295 14,413 19,961
Minority interests 133 254 (81} (800} 9
Profit attributable to Avon sharehclders 15,182 17,156 19,214 13,613 10,970
Preference dividends (35} (25) (25) (25) (25)
Ordinary dividends (6,698) (6,273) (5,775) (5,248} (4,744}
Retained profit 9,049 10,858 13,414 8,340 6,201
Fixed assets and investments 115,730 68,409 58,523 93,361 88,251
Working capital 28,137 22,157 23,720 37,424 44,011
Provisions {6,276) (5,263) {6,156) (3,776) (4,817)
Net funds - - 32,480 - -
Assets employed 138,251 85,303 108,567 127,039 127 445
Financed by:
Ordinary share capital 21,824 27,718 27,434 26,952 26,813
Reserves attributable to Avon shareholders 61,233 52,187 77,857 63,350 54,590
Preference share capital 500 500 500 500 500
Minority sharehofders’ interests 2,328 2426 2,776 4,130 6,043
Shareholders’ capital employed 91,885 82,83t 108,567 94,932 88,346
Net borrowings 46,366 2412 - 32,107 39,099
Capital employed 138,251 85,303 108,567 127,039 127,445
Basic earnings per share 56.8p 62.4p 70.3p 50.6p 40.9p
Dividends per share 242p 22.8p 21.15p 19.5p 17.7p

The above includes the results of both continuing and discentinued activities.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders will be hefd at The Bath Spa Hotel, Sydney Road, Bath on Wednesday 19 January
2000 at 2.30pm for the following purpases:

1. Toreceive a presentation by the Chief Executive on aspects of the company’s business.
2. Toreceive and consider the report of the directors and the firancial statements for the year ended 2nd October 1999 (Resolution No. 1).
3. Todeclare a dividend on the ordinary shares (Resclution No. 2).
4. Tore-elect directors:
Mr. SJ. Stone ratires by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election (Resolution No. 3).
Mr. R.A. Hunt retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election (Resolution No. 4).
5. To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors (Resolution Yo. 5).
6. To transact any other routine business.
7. As special business to consider and if thought fit pass the foflowing reselution which will be proposed as a special resolution (Resolution No.6) :

“That article 11 (B) {iv} (a) be amended to read as follows:

‘Prescribed period’ means in the first instance the period from the date of the adoption of this article to the date of the annual general meeting in
2001 or 19 April 2001, whichever is the earlier, and thereafter shall mean any other period {not exceeding 15 menths on any occasion} for which
the authority and power conferred by:

{aa) sub-paragraph {i} is renewed or extended hy a special resolution of the company stating the section 80 amount far such period; and

{bb) sub-paragraph (ii} is renewed or extended by a special resolution of the company stating the section 89 amount for such period (provided that
the authority and power conferred by sub-paragraph i) may only be renewed or extended subject to the passing of the special resolution renewing
or extending the section 80 power and authority of allotment).”

8. As special business to consider and if thought fit pass the following resolution which will be propesed as a special resalution (Resolution No. 7) :

“Subject to the passing of Resolution No. 6 set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 20 December 1999 the authority conferred on the
directors by article 11 {B) (i} of the Company’s Articles of Association be renewed for the period ending on the date of the Annual General Meeting
in 2001 or on 19 April 2001, whichever is the earlier, and for such period the section 80 amount shall ke £9,274,648".

9, As special business 1o consider and if thought fit pass the following resoluticn which will be proposed as a special resolution (Resalution No. 8):

“Subject to the passirg of Resolutions Nos. 6 and 7 set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 20 December 1999 the power conferred
on the directors by article 11 (B} (i) of the Company's Articles of Associaticn be renewed for the period ending on the date of the Annual General
Meeting in 2001 or on 19 April 2001, whichever is the earlier, and for such period the section 89 amount shafl be £1,391,197".

A member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy (or proxies) to attend and, on a poil, vote instead of him. A proxy need not he a
member of the company.

By arder of the board

C.L. Martin, Secretary

Bradfard-on-Avon (

20 December 1999

A form of proxy is enclosed. The appointment of a proxy will not prevent an crdinary shareholder from subsequently attending and voting at the meeting
in persen.

To be effective, the instrument appointing a proxy, and any power of attorney or other authority under which it is executed (or a duly certified copy of any
such power of authority) must be deposited at the company's registrar, Northem Registrars Limited, Northern House, Woodsome Park, Fenay Bridge,
Huddersfield HD8 OLA, not less than 48 hours befare the time for holding a meeting or adjourned meeting or (in the case of a poll taken otherwise than
at or on the same day as the meeting), for the taking of the poll at which it is to be used.

The documents set out below are available for inspection at the company's registered office during business hours on any weekday {Saturday and public
hotidays excluded) from the date of this notice until the conclusion of the annual general meeting and wilf also be available for inspection at the place
of the meeting from 15 minutes before it is held until its conclusion:

(i) the register of directors’ interests showing any transaction of directors and their family interests in the share capital of the company. and

(i) copies of all contracts of service under which directars of the company are employed hy the company or any of its subsidiaries,
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Explanation of Resolutions Nos. 3 and 4

At the 1998 annual general meeting shareholders approved an amendment to the company's Articles of Association designed to ensure that all
directors, whether or not they hold executive office, should be subject to retirement by rotation. Additionally, the directors wilt comply with the
requirements of the Combined Code that all directars should be subject to re-election at intervals of not more than three years.

This year Mr. S.J. Stone and Mr R.A. Hunt will retire by retation under Article 91 and stand for re-election (Resolutions Nos. 3 and 4).

Explanation of Resolutions Nos. 6, 7 and 8

Article 11 of the Articles of Association of the company both authorises your board to allot shares and disapplies shareholders’ pre-emption rights, on
an annual renewable basis. Shareholders may recall that this authority has previously been given for the maximum amounts permitted by the
Investment Committees of the Association of British tnsurers and the National Association of Pension Funds {“the Invesiment Commitiees™).

The autharity referred to above was renewed at the annual general meeting in 1999 and will, unless again renewed by the shareholders, expire at the end of
the forthcoming aanual general meeting. The authority can be renewed hy way of relatively simple special resolutions. It is therefore proposed as Resolution
No. 7 to renew the authority to allot shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £9,274,648 (the “section 80 amount”}, being an amount equal te 33%4%
of the existing ordinaty shate capital, so that the directors are empowered pursuant ta and within that authority to issue shares for cash, either in
connection with a rights issue or to persans other than existing shareholders, It is additionally proposed as Resolution No. 8 to provide that the authority to
issue shares for cash to persons gther than existing shareholders will be limited to issues representing no more than £1,391,197 (the "section 89 ameunt™)
being 5% of the issued ordinary share capital as shown in the latest audited financial statements.

The proposed new section 80 amount and the proposed new section 89 amount have heen adjusted to reflect the increase which has taken place during the
year in the issued ardinary share capital as a result of employees and directors exercising thair rights under the Avon Rubber p.).c. Sharesave Qption
Scheme 1992 and the Avan Rubber p.l.c. Executive Share Option Scheme 1986 (together “the Share Option Schemes”). In connection with the section 80
amount the Investment Committees require that the amount should be the lesser of the authorised but unissued share capital and an ameunt equal to
33%% of the existing issued ordinary shase capital; this year 33%% of the existing issued ordinary share capital is the lesser amount and the section 80
amaount had heen calculated accordingly.

The authorities sought in Resolution Nos. 7 and 8 comply with the guidelines of the Investment Committees and will, unless subsequently renewed by
sharehelders, expire at the end of the annual general meeting to be held in 2001 or 19 April 2001 if earker.

No issue of shares (apart from issues in respect of the exercise of optiens granted or to be granted to employees or directors under option schemes
approved by sharehofders, including the Share Option Schemes), is currently contemplated ard none will be made which will effectively alter the contral
of the company without the prior approval of the company in general meeting.

In previous years, the authorities contemplated by Resolutions Nos. 7 and 8 were covered by a single special resolution, In the light of the increasingly
commen practice, among quoted companies, of seeking separate approval to the two autherities referred to ahove, the directors have decided that this year,
and in the future, the matters referred to in this explanation should be dealt with by two separate special resolutions. Resolution No. 6 is designed to alter
the Articles of Association to permit Resolutions Nos. 7 and 8 to be proposed as separate resolutions, both of which are conditional on Resolution No. &
being passed and Resolution No. 8 being further conditional cn Resolution No. 7 being passed .

Shareholders should note that the company's registrars are now:

Northern Registrars Limited
Northern House

Woodsome Park

Fenay Bridge

Huddersfield HD8 OLA
Telephone 07484 600900

Avon Rubber p.l.c.
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